# Who are the haters?

Exploring critical interactions with Dutch fitness influencers on Instagram

Student Name: Marieke Fraanje

Student Number: 434891

Supervisor: Dr. Teresa De La Hera

Master Media Studies - Media & Business Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication Erasmus University Rotterdam

Master's Thesis *June 2019* 

# WHO ARE THE HATERS? EXPLORING CRITICAL INTERACTIONS WITH DUTCH FITNESS INFLUENCERS ON INSTAGRAM

#### **ABSTRACT**

The fitness industry has been growing rapidly along with an increasing amount of influencers on Instagram who endorse a healthy and fit lifestyle. While the growth of fitness influencers on Instagram brings opportunities for them such as influencer marketing and collaborations, their success also makes them prone to haters. However, research towards haters and the risks of influencers marketing seems to be limited. Current research merely focusses on the effectiveness of influencer marketing. Taken the above in account the main research question that is answered in this study is: What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram? The aim of this research thus is to tighten the literature gap on the risks of influencer marketing by exploring the phenomenon of haters in the context of Dutch fitness influencers on Instagram. The study is based upon the literature of the social interaction utility framework, the source credibility model and disclosure language. Qualitative interviews with ten participants who were found and identified as haters through the comments on the accounts of multiple Dutch fitness influencers were held to gather data. The data were analyzed using thematic analysis, based on open, axial, and selective coding. Three final themes emerged from the data; perceptions on Instagram use, utilities derived from negative engagement behavior, and aspects of the content of fitness influencers responsible for evoking negative engagement behavior.

Regarding the Instagram use of haters, it was found that haters might differ on their perception on how to use Instagram, perceiving it as a platform where it is expected to share your opinions even when they are negative or hateful. Moreover, certain haters' uses on Instagram were found to be inherently connected to their negative engagement behavior, such as using it anonymously or following disliked content creators on purpose. Based upon the social interaction utility framework, three main motivations were found to be related to the negative engagement behavior with the eWOM of fitness influencers on Instagram; concern for others, self-enhancing motivations, and venting negative feelings. Whereas self-enhancing motivations and venting negative feelings were found to be clearly related towards the definition of haters and their negative engagement behavior, the concern for others motivation indicated a need for a concept that is less related to the negative connotations around the concept of haters and more related to the negative engagement behavior as described in this study.

<u>KEYWORDS:</u> Haters, Instagram influencers, eWOM, Negative social media engagement behavior, fitness influencers

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT	4
1. Introduction	4
1.1. The fitness industry	4
1.2. Dutch fitness influencers	4
1.3. Research problem	5
1.4. Research questions	6
1.5. Scientific relevance	7
1.6. Social relevance	
1.7. Thesis outline	9
2. Theoretical framework	
2.1. Defining haters	
2.1.1. Exploring existing definitions	
2.1.2. Constructive and destructive criticism	
2.1.3. Negative online engagement behavior	
2.2. Social interaction utility framework	
2.2.1. Social interaction utility theory	
2.2.2. Defining eWOM on Instagram	
2.2.3. Social interaction utilities and their motivations	
2.3. Source credibility	
2.3.1. Source credibility theory	
2.3.2. Moderating factors in source credibility	
2.4. Disruptive social media experiences	
2.4.1. Disclosure language	
2.4.2. The persuasion knowledge model	
3. Method	
3.1. Research design	
3.2. Operationalization	
3.3. Sampling	
3.4. Data collection and analysis	
4. Results	38
4.1. Perceptions on Instagram use	38
4.1.1. Perceptions of common practices on Instagram	39
4.1.2. Perceptions of negative engagement behavior on Instagram	
4.1.3. Perceptions of self as a hater on Instagram	
4.2. Utilities of negative engagement behavior	49
4.2.1. The focus-related utility	
4.2.2. The approval utility	
4.2.3. The homeostase utility	
4.3. Negative engagement behavior evoking aspects	
4.3.1. Deceiving content	
4.3.2 Sexualization and objectification	60
5. Conclusion	
5.1. Theoretical and social implications	70
5.2. Limitations and future research	71
References	74
Annendix	

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. The fitness industry

The global health and fitness industry has been growing rapidly over the last decade. This is also the case for the Netherlands where a fitness craze is emerging (Van Rhee, 2017). It has been found that 69 percent of the inhabitants of Amsterdam, the capital of the Netherlands, work out at least once a week (Boon, 2017). This growth is the result of an increasing awareness of fitness and health, which brings more and more people to the gym ("Why The Fitness Industry Is Booming," 2018). A phenomenon that appeared together with the rise of the health and fitness industry is the increasing amount of Instagram influencers that endorse a healthy lifestyle and portray the contemporary gym culture to motivate their followers to do the same. This way social media helped the bodybuilding subculture to hit the mainstream due to "Instagram lust heroes" according to Chan (2016., para. 3). Moreover, social media enabled fitness amateurs to present themselves online and get sponsorships by building and influencing an online audience (Chan, 2016). Partly due to fitness influencers, having a gym membership, what used to be a luxury product, has now become part of peoples' everyday lifestyle ("Why The Fitness Industry Is Booming," 2018).

#### 1.2. Dutch fitness influencers

The growing fitness industry has as a result that an increasing number of young people seek for health and fitness information online in order to construct a social and personal sense of health (Jong & Drummond, 2016; Rasczyk & Stephens, 2015). Ettel, Nathanson, Ettel, Wilson, and Meola (2012) found that a significant number of young people trusted online information and modified their behavior accordingly. Social media, therefore, has become a persuasive platform to share information on health and fitness for young adults (Rasczyk & Stephens, 2015). Fitness influencers have a special role within the fitness community, often serving as a role model and health expert. While showing their idealized fit bodies, fitness influencers inspire and teach their followers in reaching their own fitness goals (Bohjalian, 2017). This has also been found to be true in the Netherlands, where following a coach on social media is one of the largest fitness trends (Van Rhee, 2017). Instagram, in particular, is an often used platform by fitness influencers due to the many

visual features (Noonan, 2018). For example, Instagram has features to place pictures and videos on timelines or post them for 24 hours in stories. Moreover, Instagram has been significantly growing in the last few years and reached a number of one billion monthly users in 2018 (Constine, 2018). Over 60% of these global Instagram users are young adults between 18 and 34 years old (Statista, 2018).

The aim of social media influencers is gaining an audience and cultivating as much attention possible by crafting an authentic personal brand using social media platforms (Khamis, Ang, & Welling, 2017). This makes influencers very attractive for collaborations and product endorsements since they have a large reach among audiences with specific interests (Jaakonmäki, Müller, & Vom Brocke, 2017). Therefore, fitness influencers often engage in influencer marketing, by endorsing brands that align with their public image and the interests of their target audience, in order to make a profit (Freberg, Graham, McGaughey, & Freberg, 2011). Using social media platforms, influencers represent companies through branded content which is subtly worked into the influencers' personal social media content (Glucksman, 2017). This type of branded content is also referred to as electronic Word-Of-Mouth (eWOM). eWOM is defined as any positive or negative statement made on a product or brand made available to a large number of people and institutions using the internet (Hennig-Thurau, Gwinner, Walsh, & Gremler, 2004). Effective influencer marketing, thus, is the act of identifying the key decision makers amongst a target audience and encouraging these influencers to spread positive eWOM (Jaakonmäki et al., 2017). However, the effectiveness of influencers branded content depends on a number of aspects. In order for branded content to be effective, it needs to be perceived by followers as authentic, credible and interactive (Glucksman, 2017). Moreover, when the Instagram content is perceived as obviously sponsored and focused on the product it appears as pushy and can actually generate negative reactions amongst followers (Jargalsaikhan & Korotina, 2016).

# 1.3. Research problem

The public online success of fitness influencers and their branded content make them prone to online haters. The term hater is mostly used to indicate people who post negative comments on online content (Lange, 2007b). However, research towards haters and the negative effects of them on influencer marketing is limited and a clear definition of the term hater and their actions seem to be lacking, even though the term hater is used very often in

relation to the social media environment nowadays (Brubaker, 2015). Therefore, a clear definition and understanding of the concept of a hater are necessary to make sense of the online behavior that is displayed a lot in the contemporary online social media environment. Moreover, there appears to be a literature gap in negative engagement behavior regarding influencer marketing and product endorsement. More specific academic literature fails to address influencer marketing from the perspective of haters. Therefore, the aim of this study is to address haters and their motivations to engage in a negative way with branded content of Dutch fitness influencers in order to get a more complete understanding of influencer marketing and its risks.

#### 1.4. Research questions

Taken the above in account the main research question is formulated as follows:

What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram?

Three sub-questions will serve as thematic steps towards forming a final answer to the main research question:

Sub-research question 1: How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram?

This sub-question contributes to the aim of this thesis in getting a better understanding of how haters make use of Instagram and how their uses are connected to negative online engagement behavior. In addition, even though the participants are already identified as haters, this sub-question aims to find out how they perceive their own Instagram use and if they perceive themselves as haters. The definition of haters which is established in the theoretical framework, therefore, is used as a reference to find out about the hater behavior of the participants on Instagram and whether they identify as a hater.

Sub-research question 2: What utilities are obtained by haters of Dutch fitness influencers when engaging with branded content in a negative way?

The second sub-question aims to find out about the different utilities that haters obtain when engaging in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers. The social interaction utility framework by Hennig-Thurau, Gwinner, Walsh, and Gremler (2004) serves as a base for identifying different motivations and their connected utilities from the interview data. Moreover, this sub-question contributes to the overall aim of this research by identifying different motivations and utilities that are connected to negative engagement behavior with fitness influencers.

Sub research question 3: What aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters?

The third and last sub-question aims to find out what specific types of content of fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters. Lack of source credibility and disruptive social media experiences are identified in the theoretical framework as two possible sources for evoking negative engagement behavior on the content of fitness influencers. This sub-question contributes to the overall aim of this research by providing a more clear and specific understanding of which aspects of fitness influencers and their content are prone to negative online engagement behavior and why haters of Dutch fitness influencers participate in express engagement behavior on Instagram.

#### 1.5. Scientific relevance

Previous academic studies already address the topic of influencer marketing on Instagram and in particular its benefits for marketers (Biaudet, 2017). Several studies address the impact of influencer marketing on the consumer decision process within different niche groups (Shuqair & Cragg, 2017; Sudha & Sheena, 2017). However, research on how influencers can be perceived in a negative way and the risks of influencer marketing seems to be limited even though it is an important part of the influencer profession. There has been done some research on the impact of the number of followers and the impact of credibility on consumers perceptions, which also addresses the negative side of these issues by arguing that a higher number of followers leads to less perceived credibility (De Veirman,

Cauberghe, & Hudders, 2017; Evans, Phua, Lim, & Jun, 2017). These studies, therefore, address a perceived lack of credibility and a high number of followers as possible sources of negative perceptions of consumers. However, these studies fail to address these issues from the perspective of influencers' haters. Overall there seems to be a literature gap in how negative perceptions are evoked and related to negative online engagement. Therefore this research aims to tighten this literature gap by a qualitative exploration of the motivations for negative engagement behavior with the content of fitness influencers.

#### 1.6. Social relevance

A clear understanding of the risks of influencer marketing contributes to the profession of marketing, advertising, and social media influencers. Influencers nowadays, especially those with a larger following are often confronted with hate messages on social media. Using sentiment analysis it has been found in a study by Mention, a social media monitoring company, that social media has become considerably more negative in the past 5 years (Whatman, 2017). Moreover, influencers increasingly come forward with videos or posts on the effects of hate messages on them personally. For example, in a recent blog post by Charlie Watson, who started the blog and the Instagram account of The Runner Beans on which she shares her running and health journey, addressed the topic of negativity and haters on social media. She wrote on how receiving negativity makes her question why she blogs and shares her life. Moreover, she said she works really hard on her blog and she gets very upset by the passive-aggressive messages she receives on social media (Watson, 2018). However, it is argued by Brubaker (2015) that haters are a natural part of the growth of any business or personal brand and the only way to avoid haters is to be on the side-lines. Nonetheless, hating nowadays has become such a problem that social media platforms, including Instagram, have begun introducing new features to limit it. Instagram, for example, introduced the function to disable comments entirely or filter comments on words that are often used by haters (Chapple, 2016). Hating thus has become a large part and problem of contemporary social media culture.

Moreover, negative perceptions on social media influencers can have harmful effects on the image of the brands they are endorsing. In a survey called Under Influence, UK consumers were asked towards their attitudes to social media influencer marketing (Prizeology, 2018). It was found that over half of their respondents thought brands are not

transparent on their use of influencer marketing whereas hiding commercial ties between brands and influencers are argued to have severe damage on the perception of the public (Fastenau, 2018). Therefore, qualitative exploration on how negative perceptions among target audiences are evoked is necessary for a better understanding of the risks of influencer marketing. Moreover, it contributes towards a deeper societal understanding of negative social media engagement behavior which is displayed very often nowadays.

#### 1.7. Thesis outline

Taken all the above in account, this thesis consist of the following parts:

### **Chapter 2. Theoretical framework**

In the theoretical framework, a literature review that is relevant to the main research question is included. Moreover, the theoretical framework contributed to defining haters and forming a participant definition. In addition, the theoretical framework guided the formulation of interview questions for the interview guide. This chapter is divided into the following four subsections that are all relevant to the motivations of haters for engaging in a negative way with branded content.

The first section of the theoretical framework aims to inform the first sub-question: How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram? In order to do so, the concept of hater is defined based on previous studies and existing definitions. Moreover, negative social media engagement behavior or online hating is defined and the difference between destructive and constructive feedback is explained.

In the second section the social interaction utility framework of Hennig-Thurau, Gwinner, Walsh, and Gremler (2004) is introduced as a starting point to address possible motivations of haters to engage in a negative way with the branded content of fitness influencers. This part of the theoretical framework aims to inform the interview guide to formulate questions that are relevant to the second sub-question: What utilities are perceived by haters of Dutch fitness influencers when engaging with their content in a negative way?

The third section addresses the first possible characteristic for evoking negative perceptions among haters. Based on previous literature on influencer authenticity and credibility it is argued that a perceived lack of it can lead to negative perceptions on the

influencer as well as the brand that is endorsed.

In the last section, another possible characteristic of influencer content for evoking negative perceptions is introduced. Based on the habits of branded content on Instagram, disclosure language is found to have a negative effect on the perceptions of followers (Evans et al., 2017). Moreover, a disruptive social media experience in this sub-section is argued to be possibly linked to the homeostase utility.

#### **Chapter 3. Method**

#### 3.1. Research design

In this section, the qualitative research design of this study is introduced. Moreover, the choice for semi-structured interviews is argued as the best method for this study to gather data. Therefore, advantages such as building rapport and flexibility of the method are argued in order to clarify the method of choice for this qualitative study.

#### 3.2. Operationalization

In the operationalization, the process of formulating the interview guide is argued and explained. Based upon the theoretical framework, and the three sub-questions, interview questions are formulated in order to ensure all relevant information of negative engagement behavior on Instagram is covered. The interview guide, therefore, follows the same structure as the theoretical framework. Moreover, a personal section for each participant is added to address the destructive comment based on which they were included in this research.

### 3.3. Sampling

In this section, the judgment sampling method is explained. Moreover, the sampling procedure is described in detail. In order to find ten participants for this study, multiple Instagram accounts of Dutch fitness influencers are monitored on negative comments. Based on these comments possible participants are contacted via Instagram, asking if they want to participate anonymously in this study by conducting either a face-to-face or Skype interview. Due to the sensitive topic and convenience reasons, most of the participants preferred to do the interview via Skype over a personal meeting.

# 3.4 Data collection and analysis

Data collection is done face-to-face or using Skype and the interview is recorded using a recording device. Afterward, the recordings are transcribed verbatim in order to

prepare the data for analysis. The analysis is done based on the thematic analysis method which consists of open coding, axial coding, and selective coding. The coding process is explained in detail in this section in order to increase the transparency of this study.

# **Chapter 4. Results**

In the results chapter the three main themes that emerged from the data are reported and discussed based on quotes from the interviews with the aim to answer the three sub-questions and together the main research question; What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram?".

# **Chapter 5. Conclusion**

Lastly, the results and overall findings are summarized and the answer to the main research question is formed. Also, the limitations of this study are discussed and suggestions for further research are mentioned.

#### 2. Theoretical framework

In this chapter, existing literature on haters and their possible motivations for negative online engagement behavior are discussed. A literature review on previous research on negative online engagement behavior is introduced and the main theoretical concepts are defined. Moreover, the theoretical framework contributes to formulating interview questions and guiding the data collection. To start off, in the first section the concept of haters as well as their negative engagement behavior is defined and discussed, which contributes to formulating the participant definition. In the second section, the social interaction utility framework is introduced. This framework serves as a starting point to start exploring possible motivations and obtained utilities for negative online engagement behavior. Lastly, two aspects that possibly contribute to evoking negative engagement behavior on the content of fitness influencers are introduced; a lack of credibility and a disruptive social media experience through sponsored content. These concepts and frameworks all contribute to gaining a more in-depth understanding of haters and possible motivations for their online engagement behavior with the aim to gather valid data to formulate a final answer to the main research question: What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on *Instagram?* 

# 2.1. Defining haters

Before making any assumptions on possible motivations of haters for negative online engagement behavior, a clear understanding of the concept of hater is needed. Therefore, existing definitions of haters are introduced and critically discussed in the section below. In addition, hater behavior is described and a difference between constructive and destructive criticism is established. Afterward, previous literature on negative online engagement behavior is discussed and the two forms of negative online engagement behavior; detaching and destructing are introduced. Lastly, a final definition of haters is formulated; taken all of the above in account. This definition of haters is further used throughout this study. Moreover, this definition of haters has contributed to formulating the participant definition and selecting the most suitable participants for interviewing and thus increasing the internal

validity of this study.

#### 2.1.1. Exploring existing definitions

The definition of haters is closely connected towards their displayed negative online engagement behavior. Negative online engagement is referred to in previous literature as online 'flaming', which is the act of intentionally violating negotiated, evolving and situated interactional norms, either successfully or unsuccessfully (O'Sullivan & Flanagin, 2003). However, a more contemporary term for social media users that engage in online flaming is 'haters'. Haters are often defined as social media users that cannot be happy for the success of other users and therefore intentionally want to expose the flaws of these successful users. Moreover, the term is used to describe social media users that "hate for irrational reasons and more for the sake of hate itself" (Mackenzie, 2013). However, these definitions already imply that haters who engage in a negative way with online content act from jealous motivations, which is impossible to judge from the displayed behavior alone. In addition, impolite online behavior, such as hating, is largely context dependent (Lange, 2014). For example, in some context, mean critical commentary and deliberately trying to anger others can be attempts to push social conventions and serve as means to connect with other users who like to be provocative (Hardaker, 2013). In this context, disagreement is actually preferred. Moreover, in a lot of online participation platforms, such as Instagram, users are actually expected to share their feelings and opinions on topics covered in the content (Shum & Lee, 2013).

However, in a study on YouTube and online social participation by Lange (2007b), YouTube content creators are interviewed and asked for their perceptions of their haters. One content creator defined haters in this study as people who post negative comments without offering criticism or any helpful information. This is confirmed by another participant who perceives haters as people who insult content creators without offering suggestions for improvements (Lange, 2007b). Therefore, existing definitions and perceptions of haters seem to contradict one another with regards to including criticism in online hating behavior or not. While multiple, definitions exclude criticism entirely by defining haters as social media users who "hate for irrational reasons' (Mackenzie, 2013), and offer no criticism or helpful information (Lange, 2007b). Another definition perceives haters as social media users who intentionally want to expose flaws of content creators

which actually implies that criticism is a form of hating.

#### 2.1.2. Constructive and destructive criticism

In order to gain a clear understanding of whether to include criticism as part of online hating behavior or not, it is important to establish and explore the difference between constructive criticism and destructive criticism. Constructive criticism is negative feedback that is delivered using a considerate form of communications and it contains no threats (Raver, Jensen, Lee, & O'Reilly, 2012). Moreover, the aim of constructive feedback is to improve the performance of others (Hardavella, Aamli-Gaagnat, Saad, Rousalova, & Sreter, 2017). In addition, it has been argued that delivering feedback in a constructive way is actually an effective way to improve the growth and development of the person receiving the feedback (Hamid & Mahmood, 2010). Destructive feedback, on the other hand, is negative feedback delivered in an inconsiderate style with inconsiderate content (Raver et al., 2012). As mentioned by Baron (1988) destructive criticism is often expressed when a person is upset or angry. Due to those emotions, destructive criticism is typically delivered in an inconsiderate style including threats or other negative features such as using a biting or sarcastic tone. Moreover, destructive criticism is often aimed at poor performance due to internal causes, making the criticism personal to the recipient (Baron, 1988).

Destructive feedback applied to the social media environment is often aimed to deter content creators to stop posting certain content, while constructive feedback is aimed to improve the performance of the creators (Lange, 2007a). Receiving destructive feedback or hater comments can leave the recipient feeling more negative emotions in comparison towards receiving constructive feedback. Moreover, receiving destructive criticism can undermine recipients confidence or self-efficacy in regards to the discussed performances (Baron, 1988). Negative feedback or hater comments thus can have a large impact on the recipient. However, where some people might have a high tolerance and enjoy confrontational participations, others eschew it and it can even interfere with their enjoyment of participation online (Lange, 2007b). Therefore, what one might consider as online hating, might not be the same as for the other. However, in order to study haters, a clear definition of the concept is needed. Therefore, even though both types of criticism can be well-argued, destructive criticism in this study is considered to be part of online hating as

it is aimed to expose flaws of the content creator with the goal to make them stop creating online content by using an inconsiderate style of communication (Raver et al., 2012).

Constructive criticism, on the other hand, is not considered to be part of hating in this study since it is aimed to improve the performance of the content creator, using a considerate style of communication. Constructive criticism thus comes from good intentions and do not evoke as negative feelings among the content creators as destructive criticism or hater comments. Constructive criticism, therefore, is not considered to be part of hating in this study. Moreover, since the aim of this study is to find out what the motivations are for haters to engage in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers, constructive criticism is excluded in order to collect appropriate data to answer the research question.

#### 2.1.3. Negative online engagement behavior

Despite that the concept of hater might not have the same meaning to everyone, the term is used massively on social media platforms, and the negative online behavior is displayed very often, especially on the content of successful social media users (Brubaker, 2015). An important aspect that can favor behavior such as giving destructive feedback and hateful comments in the online environment, is the level of anonymity that users experience on social media platforms (Mondal, Silva, & Benevenuto, 2017). Even though social media platforms such as Facebook and Instagram try to remove anonymity by obliging users to give up their name, age, and place, users can easily bypass this by providing fake data (Hardaker, 2013). According to Keen (2007), anonymity is one of the most corrosive elements of the internet that creates an uncivil online world. This is also argued by Hardaker (2013) saying that anonymity can foster a loss of self-awareness and increases the likelihood of acting upon impulses that are normally inhibited. In addition, anonymity has found to decrease empathy for online others (Sia, Tan, & Wei, 2002). However, according to Lange (2007a), adding personal information towards social media accounts does not guarantee cordial interaction, since not all social media users perceive online hating as a problem in the same degree. Therefore, it can be argued that anonymity is not or only partly responsible for the negative online engagement behavior.

There are multiple ways for haters to negatively engage with the content of others on Instagram, however, academic literature defined two types of negative social media

engagement behavior: detaching and destructing. Detaching social media engagement behavior is the act of removing content that appears on the users home page or news feed (Dolan, Conduit, Fahy, & Goodman, 2016). According to Mai (2007), key factors in relationship detachment are the perception of quality and emotional involvement. Applied to social media influencers, detachment thus can possibly occur when followers perceive their content as low quality or have no emotional involvement with them. Followers then hide their content, unlike or unsubscribe from the social media account (Dolan et al., 2016). On Instagram detaching engagement behavior can be expressed by either unfollowing the content creator or simply scrolling the content away in their timeline without giving the content any attention. Detaching engagement behavior thus is a more hidden way of negative engagement behavior and has no impact on any of the other followers of the content creator.

Destructive social media engagement behavior goes further than detaching social media engaging behavior since it involves actively contributing to existing content.

Destructive social media engagement, therefore, is the act of making active negative contributions on social media platforms (Dolan et al., 2016). The most obvious example of destructive engagement behavior on Instagram are users who post public hate comments under Instagram content. However, more hidden ways to engage in a destructive way with the content on Instagram is to either send hateful private messages to the content creator directly or send disliked content to friends in their personal direct messages with hateful comments towards the content or content creator. Users who engage in online hating, therefore, can have different levels of activity in negative engagement behavior on Instagram. They can engage in negative ways which are more passive, described above as detaching engagement behavior, or they can engage in an active way by engaging in a destructive way with Instagram content and posting negative comments.

Taken all of the above in account, a hater in this study is defined as a social media user who engages with the content of other successful users in a negative way, either detaching or destructing. Moreover, these social media users deliver feedback using an inconsiderate style of communication in the case of destructing engagement behavior. This definition thus excludes users who give constructive feedback which is aimed to improve the performance of others and uses a considerate style of communication (Hardavella et al., 2017). In addition, this definition goes further than the discussed existing definitions of

haters which only includes users who leave empty comments and threats driven by jealous motivations and therefore, includes well-argued destructive criticism as well. This definition of haters is further used throughout this study. Moreover, this definition of haters and their negative online engagement behavior contributes to forming an appropriate participant definition and selecting suitable interview participants for the aim of this study. In addition the findings above guide the interview questions on the first part of the data collection aiming to address sub-question 1: How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram?"

### 2.2. Social interaction utility framework

In the following section, the social interaction utility framework is introduced and discussed with regards to the possible motivations of haters for negative engagement behavior. This part aims to inform the interview guide on the second part addressing subquestion 2: What utilities are obtained by haters of Dutch fitness influencers when engaging with branded content in a negative way? In order to understand and properly apply the social interaction utility framework in this study, first the concept of utility is introduced after which it is applied to social interaction. In addition, the social interaction utility framework which was initially proposed by Balasubramanian and Mahajan (2001) consisting of three social interaction utilities is critically discussed, after which the updated social interaction utility framework by Hennigh-Thurau et al. (2004) is proposed as the main framework for this study to base the analysis on of the possible motivations for negative engagement behavior with content of fitness influencers. Moreover, the five social interaction utilities and their related motivations for social interaction proposed by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) are clearly defined and applied to negative social media engagement behavior on Instagram.

# 2.2.1. Social interaction utility theory

The social interaction utility theory is based on the assumption that the primary reasons for individuals to engage in social interactions is because they yield direct utilities (Saffer, 2005). Utilities in the social interaction utility theory are defined as the payoffs that individuals obtain from their social interactions (Brock & Durlauf, 2001). Moreover, the social interaction utility theory argues that all social interactions are based on attempts to

maximize utilities for the self (Payne & Howes, 2013). However, it is argued by Saffer (2008) that the role of social interaction has changed since the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Whereas before, social interaction often had an economic motive, such as the need for close friends and family for insurance during times of crisis, the primary utility that is derived from social interaction has changed to pleasure. (Saffer, 2008). However, the social interaction utility framework, as it was initially introduced by Balasubramanian and Mahajan in 2001 aimed to address the economic leverage of social interaction within virtual communities. Within this initial framework, Balasubramanian and Mahajan (2001) identified three main utilities that were derived from social interactions.

First of all, they identified the focus-related utility which is the utility that is obtained when an individual contributes to virtual communities. Receiving this utility is based on the belief that any contribution to the community strengthens the focus of it, thus the focus on the main subject of the community (Balasubramanian & Mahajan, 2001). The second utility they identified is the consumption utility, which is derived from consuming contributions of other members and whereby strengthening personal knowledge or skills. The third and last utility identified by Balasubramanian and Mahajan (2001) is the approval utility which is derived from the feeling of satisfaction when others consume and approve personal contribution. As it was mentioned above it is argued by Saffer (2008) that social interaction utilities changed from economic motivations towards motivations of pleasure. Based on this assumption it could be argued that the social interaction utility framework as initially proposed by Balasubramanian and Mahajan (2001) to study economic leverages for social interaction is outdated to use for studying contemporary social interactions.

However, Hennig-Thurau, Gwinner, Walsh, and Gremler (2004) have updated the initial social interaction utility framework and proposed to add two extra utilities to this framework based on the characteristics of opinion platforms and their literature review on motive-related electronic Word-Of-Mouth. They added the moderator related utility, which is derived when others make the act of complaining online easier. Moreover, they added the homeostase utility which is based upon the assumption that all individuals strive for balance in their lives. A negative experience, therefore, can be vented online in order to obtain the homeostase utility (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Due to this extension of the social interaction utility framework and its application on eWOM, the framework is still highly relevant in analyzing contemporary social interactions. Moreover, the framework is in

particular relevant when addressing possible motivations for haters to engage in a negative way with branded content on Instagram since branded content of fitness influencers is a form of eWOM. Therefore, the extended social interaction utility framework of Hennig-Thurau et. (2004) is used throughout this study to frame the discussion on motivations of haters for engaging in a negative way with branded content of fitness influencers on Instagram.

#### 2.2.2. Defining eWOM on Instagram

Before making assumptions on motivations for negative engagement with eWOM of fitness influencers, first, the concept of eWOM is in need of some clarification. As mentioned in the introduction, electronic Word-Of-Mouth is defined as any statement made on a product or brand, either positive or negative, that is made available to a large number of people and institutions using the Internet (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Therefore eWOM is the act of consumers talking amongst themselves about brands and products and thereby influencing the consumer decisions of others. Moreover, eWOM is considered to be the most influential factor in consumer decision making at all phases of the consumer decision-making process (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2014). According to Kudeshia and Kumar (2015), there are four different categories within eWOM; specialized eWOM, affiliated eWOM, social eWOM, and miscellaneous eWOM. Of these four categories, social eWOM is considered to be the most effective form of eWOM.

Social eWOM happens when consumers give or explore product-related recommendations or branded content on social networking sites. (Kudeshia & Kumar, 2015). Influencers posting branded content thus falls in the social eWOM category. In particular influencers on Instagram with a large follower base are very effective in influencing consumers, since they can reach a lot of people with their content. In addition, influencers can thrive by sharing their views and opinions on brands and products through their content, since they are considered to be regular people by their followers, and are often not affiliated with specific brands (Konstantopoulou, Rizomyliotis, Konstantoulaki, & Badahdah, 2019). It is argued by Jaakonmäki et al. (2017) that effective influencer marketing, therefore, is the act of identifying the key decision makers amongst a target audience, thus large influencers, and encouraging them to spread positive social eWOM.

#### 2.2.3. Social interaction utilities and their motivations

Within the updated social interaction utility framework, Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) identified eleven possible motivations for consumers to engage in eWOM. However, their identified motivations included both posting positive and negative comments. Therefore, some of the motivations are based on positive consumer experiences and not connected to negative engagement behavior. However, in order to prevent making premature assumptions and influencing the data analysis, all of them are mentioned below with regards to their connected utilities. However, those motivations that are more clearly connected towards negative engagement behavior are discussed more in-depth.

Firstly, Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) argued that the focus-related utility as established by Balasubramanian and Mahajan (2001), is based on the assumption of adding value to the community. According to this assumption individuals who post comments on Instagram thus have the feeling that they add value with their contributions to the overall community in which they are participating. Under the focus-related utility, Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) identified four possible motivations for engagement with eWOM and labeled them as concern for other consumers, helping the company, social benefit, and exertion of collective power over companies. The concern for other consumers motivation is argued by the authors to be closely related to the concept of altruism, which is often described using the word selfishness (Wilson, 1992). Applied to negative engagement behavior on Instagram, users can post negative or hateful comments motivated by their concern for other consumers. This motivation thus can lead to Instagram users exposing fitness influencers who endorse bad products or promote unhealthy exercises for example. Sharing their own knowledge about subjects, Instagram users then aim to inform and prevent other users from buying bad products and engaging in unhealthy behaviors.

Social benefit is the motivation of users to participate in online communities in order to identify and integrate with them. Participating thus creates a sense of belonging to online communities (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Posting comments on the content of fitness influencers then can create a sense of belonging to the fitness community on Instagram. However, posting negative or hateful comments might actually lessen the belonging of haters to the fitness community. Therefore, it might be that negative engagement behavior is related to another type of Instagram community of which haters can obtain social benefits from by their negative engagement behavior. Another possible reason to post negative

comments based on the social benefits motivation is to expose flaws or misconceptions of fitness influencers, hereby demonstrating personal expertise. Exposing flaws in this context in this context could strengthen the belonging to the fitness community on Instagram. Lastly, the exertion of collective power over companies is related to the way eWOM shifts power from companies to consumers. In the case of negative experiences, consumers can articulate their experiences online in order to exert their power over the company and influence the decision of other consumers. Especially when consumers articulate negative experiences simultaneously they are very influential (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Based on the exertion of collective power motivation, Instagram users can post negative comments based on negative experiences on the eWOM of fitness influencers with the aim to influence the consumer decision of others.

Regarding the second utility, the consumption utility, Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) identified *post-purchase advice-seeking* as a possible motivation for consumers to engage with eWOM. After purchasing, consumers can be motivated to search for online reviews and ask online others for their experiences and advice with the specific product, since asking delivers more relevant information than reading reviews. On Instagram, users, therefore, can post negative comments based on post-purchase advice-seeking motivations. In the case of a negative consumer experience, sharing it on eWOM can help users getting advice from others on how to use certain products in a different way to make it more effective.

Third, under the approval utility Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) identified *the self-enhancement motivation*, which is driven by the desire of people to receive positive recognition of others, and the *economic rewards motivation* when money or other economic rewards motivate them to engage in eWOM. Instagram provides several functions to establish self-enhancement for its users. For example, users can like pictures or comments of others, hereby expressing their agreement or appreciation. Moreover, users can comment on pictures or other comments under posts to verbally express their agreement or appreciation. When Instagram users thus post negative or hateful comments they can receive self-enhancing responses of other users who like their comments or comment back on them to express their agreement. Posting negative or hateful comments, therefore, can possibly be a way for Instagram users to find out if others think the same way about certain content whereby receiving the approval utility.

The fourth utility, moderator-related utility, is related to the motivations that address

convenience and problem-solving support. Convenience is a motivation that can drive consumers to engage with eWOM when it is more convenient for them to engage with this content then to actually contact the brand. Posting negative comments on eWOM of fitness influencers on Instagram thus can be a more convenient way for Instagram users to express their negative experiences than to contact the brand directly. Problem-solving support is the motivation that drives consumers to engage with eWOM while hoping that the platform operator will serve as a moderator (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). With regards to Instagram, users can report eWOM of fitness influencers which does not explicitly display commercial ties or feels inappropriate towards them.

Lastly, under the homeostase utility Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) identified the expressing positive emotions and venting negative feelings as motivations for consumers to engage with eWOM. Venting negative feelings thus can be a motivation for Instagram users to post negative or hateful comments in order to restore their balance. Negative feelings can be based on a negative consumer experience or be evoked by different aspects of the content of fitness influencers. The following sub-chapters discuss two of these possible aspects more in-depth. However, negative feelings among Instagram users thus can result in hateful or negative comments of them on the disliked content of fitness influencers with the aim to receive the homeostase utility.

Overall, the social interaction utility framework and in particular the extensions of Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) and their identified motivations serves as a frame for the discussion of possible motivations for haters to engage in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers. In addition, the framework contributes to analyzing the gathered data and recognizing the possible motivations of haters that are addressed in the interviews. Therefore, the social interaction utility framework helps in making sense of the data and making conclusions on motivations for haters to engage in a negative way with branded content.

# 2.3. Source credibility

In this section, source credibility theory is introduced together with its three dimensions of expertise, trustworthiness, and attractiveness. Moreover, the lack of source credibility or one of its three dimensions is discussed as a possible aspect responsible for evoking negative engagement behavior. Therefore, it is argued how a lack of credibility can

motivate haters to engage with branded content with regards to the social interaction utility framework. Overall, this section contributes to forming relevant questions for the interview guide, in order to address possible aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers which evoke negative engagement behavior of haters on Instagram aiming to answer subquestion 3: What aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters?

# 2.3.1. Source credibility theory

Source credibility is a term that is mainly used to indicate positive characteristics of a communicative source which contribute to persuading an audience (Amelina & Zhu, 2016). Therefore, the source credibility theory argues that audiences are easier persuaded when the source is perceived as credible (Samarasinghe, 2018). Moreover, source credibility is argued to consist of three sub-dimensions; expertise, trustworthiness, and attractiveness (Amelina & Zhu, 2016; Spry, Pappu, & Cornwell, 2011). Expertise hereby refers to the level of knowledge an audience perceives the source to possess about the discussed topic (Spry et al., 2011). Expertise is related to concepts such as knowledge, skills, qualification, and experience (Amelina & Zhu, 2016). Trustworthiness is related to the perception of the audience on their endorsement motivations. Therefore trustworthiness is closely related to the concept of authenticity which is further discussed in the following paragraph. Lastly, the dimension of attractiveness is related to the findings that physical attractive sources have a positive impact on consumer attitudes (Spry et al., 2011). Previous studies already established that a positive perception on the credibility of a communication source can have positive effects on consumer attitudes and buying behavior (Amelina & Zhu, 2016; Samarasinghe, 2018; Spry et al., 2011). The three dimensions, however, are interrelated and have an effect on each other. Thus when a source is perceived as low in expertise, their trustworthiness also becomes questionable.

Micro-celebrity, such as Instagram influencers, is often the result of an online persona that feels authentic to readers (Abidin & Ots, 2016). Authentic and unique content gives Instagram users a reason to engage with an influencer and as a result, contribute to helping the influencers grow. However, more consumers are becoming aware of the reality behind inspirational posts as being sponsored messages and advertisements. As it is argued by Khamis, Ang and Welling (2017) the perception of authenticity creates room for

influencers that is exploitable by engaging in commercial arrangements. Therefore, the influencer community is getting a lot of negative attention from the media and Instagram users themselves (Schreuder, 2017). When haters are calling influencers fake, they are often indicating towards one or multiple aspects that are related to the perceived authenticity and credibility of an influencer. Authenticity in the traditional sense is based on intrinsic motivations which value uniqueness, original expression and independence from the market (Khamis et al., 2017). Therefore, authenticity is closely related to the trustworthiness dimension of the source credibility model which is based on the perceptions of the audience of the intrinsic motivations of an influencer to engage in endorsements (Samarasinghe, 2018). When consumers thus perceive influencers as being dependent on brands they collaborate with, the perception of the authenticity and trustworthiness of the influencers gets harmed.

# 2.3.2. Moderating factors in source credibility

There are several Instagram features that are moderating factors in assessing the credibility of Instagram influencers. Firstly, the number of followers of Instagram influencers is a moderating factor for consumers in assessing the trustworthiness of an Instagram influencer. Larger influencers are often assessed as less authentic and when they promote products, they are perceived as rather common instead of unique (De Veirman et al., 2017). Moreover, it is found that larger influencers are perceived as less trustworthy than smaller influencers or micro influencers (Bijen, 2017). Besides the ratio of followers and followees is an important indicator for followers to assess whether an Instagram Influencer is authentic or not. It is argued that when influencers follow more accounts than they have followers themselves, it can be perceived as an attempt to be followed back by a lot of people (De Veirman et al., 2017). Consumers then perceive the influencer as less authentic and asses their intrinsic motivations in a negative way, by perceiving them as people who want to grow and have more followers, instead of being authentic and independent of the market. Therefore in order to get more engagement, it is important for social media influencers to know what their users are interested in and what they would like to see (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010).

An often used strategy by influencers is to compare themselves towards their competitors and see what content of them is performing well (O'Connor, 2017). Even though

this can be helpful in creating better performing content, the risk of imitating well-performing content can be that it is perceived as unauthentic, not original and thus fake by followers. Moreover, with regards to the social interaction utility framework, engaging with branded content that is perceived as unreliable can help haters to gain the focus-related utility. When users are affiliated with an online community, engaging with content can help consumers to participate and belong to online communities and in return receive the focus utility from this community membership (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Therefore, when users are affiliated with the fitness community on Instagram, social benefits can be a motivation for them to engage with unreliable branded content and expose flaws, in order to strengthen their belonging to the fitness community on Instagram.

Using literature on influencer authenticity and credibility, questions on assessing when haters perceive influencers as fake or lacking credibility are formulated for the interview guide. These questions are forming a starting point for evoking a conversation on possible aspects of the content of fitness influencers which are related to negative engagement behavior of haters on Instagram.

#### 2.4. Disruptive social media experiences

In this section, disruptive social media experiences are introduced as an aspect of branded content of fitness influencers which could contribute to evoking negative responses of haters. In addition, it is explained how branded content of fitness influencers falls in the category of native advertising and how EU regulations prevent native advertising to become covert advertising through obliging disclosure language. Moreover, in this section, it is argued that disclosure language can lead to an increased disruptive social media experience and explained how encountering branded content on Instagram can possibly lead to negative responses of haters. Lastly, the persuasion knowledge model is introduced to illustrate how disclosure language and can lead to negative responses of haters on the branded content of fitness influencers.

### 2.4.1. Disclosure language

A possible source of evoking negative engagement behavior of haters is a disruptive social media experience. Social media as a marketing and advertising tool has been growing significantly in the last decade and one of the reasons that many marketers are interested in

social media platforms is that it can be used for native advertising, which is a type of advertising that is designed to blend in the content of the media platform (Manic, 2015). It has already been found that Interruptive marketing messages can lead to negative reactions (Barnes, 2002). Interruptive marketing messages are advertising which interrupts from activities such as reading a magazine (Petty, 2000). Using social media platforms, however, and adjusting the messages to the style and characteristics of the platform and blend in with the other content can decrease the level of perceived interruption. Influencer marketing on Instagram thus is designed to decrease the disruption between regular feed and marketing messages which has been found to be a very effective marketing tool (Freberg et al., 2011; Jaakonmäki et al., 2017).

However, marketing attempts that expose consumers to brands by embedding them into platforms that are not typically considered to be for advertising are also defined as covert marketing, which is a form of hidden marketing (Wei, Fischer, & Main, 2008). Native marketing, and thus adapting marketing messages to the style and habits of the used platform is allowed. However, covert advertising of which consumers are not aware of is not allowed in the EU. EU regulations on influencer marketing state that commercial communications on social media need to be clearly identifiable as such and that the brand on whose behalf the commercial content is made needs to be clearly identifiable as well in order to prevent covert or misleading advertising (Gürkaynak, Kama, & Ergün, 2018). Therefore, the audiences should be explicitly informed when editorial content contains some form of commercial content, in order to guarantee fair communication and avoid persuasion without the awareness of the audience (Boerman, van Reijmersdal, & Neijens, 2012). However, following these regulations and disclosing commercial relationships on Instagram increases advertisement recognition as well as the feeling of disruption that Instagram users can experience from it.

# 2.4.2. The persuasion knowledge model

It is argued above that disclosure language on Instagram is positively related to advertising recognition which in turn has a negative impact on consumer attitudes and purchase intentions (Evans et al., 2017). This finding aligns with the persuasion knowledge model, which was developed by Friestad and Wright (1994). The model describes how consumers develop knowledge about persuasion and how this knowledge is used to

evaluate, interpret and react towards persuasion attempts (Boerman et al., 2012). Moreover, the model argues that people tend to react in a negative way when they are aware of a persuasion attempt, which can result in emotional responses such as mocking or expressing strong feelings on the persuasion attempt (Friestad & Wright, 1994).

Rozendaal, Lapierre, van Reijmersdal and Buijzen (2011) argued that persuasion knowledge should be divided into two different aspects: conceptual persuasion knowledge and attitudinal persuasion knowledge. Conceptual persuasion knowledge involves recognizing branded content and understanding the persuasive intent (Boerman et al., 2012). The main goal of disclosure language, therefore, is to support audiences in recognizing branded content and activating the conceptual persuasion knowledge. Attitudinal persuasion knowledge is a mechanism that is activated when recognizing persuasion attempts and can serve as a defense towards persuasion attempts (Rozendaal et al., 2011). Attitudinal persuasion knowledge encompasses critical attitudes towards branded content. Therefore, disclosure language can affect attitudinal persuasion knowledge by activating the conceptual persuasion knowledge (Boerman et al., 2012). Since people tend to react in a negative way to persuasion attempts (Friestad & Wright, 1994), disclosure language can affect the overall effectiveness of branded content of fitness influencers. Moreover, the model explains how recognizing persuasion attempts can activate the attitudinal persuasion knowledge mechanism and thus result in negative responses of haters on branded content. Therefore, negative engagement behavior of haters on branded content is possibly linked to the homeostasis utility, which is obtained when the balance after a negative experience is restored. After a disruptive social media experience, venting can be a motivation for haters to help them to receive the homeostasis utility and restore their balance.

In conclusion, the theory on the effects of disclosure language and the persuasion knowledge model contributes to formulating relevant questions for the interview guide. Addressing disruptive marketing messages within the interviews contributes to broadening the conversation of possible motivations for haters to engage in a negative way with the branded content of fitness influencers. In particular, addressing the perceived disruptiveness of branded content contributes to identifying aspects of branded content of fitness influencers that can possibly evoke negative responses of haters. Identifying these aspects is relevant for professionals in the field of influencer marketing, as they can use this knowledge

to develop strategies for limiting negative responses as much as possible. Overall this theoretical framework serves as a frame for guiding the discussion on possible motivations for haters to engage in negative ways with branded content. The social interaction utility framework, in particular, is a useful guide in addressing and identifying possible motivations of haters for negative engagement and the utilities they gain by engaging in a negative way with branded content. In addition, using the theoretical framework, a valid participant sample is selected and a relevant interview guide is formed with the aim to answer the main research question: What are the motivations of the haters of fitness influencers to negatively engage with their eWOM?

# 3. Method

### 3.1. Research design

In order to answer the exploratory research question: "What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram?" qualitative research methods are being used. Qualitative research methods aim to provide meanings, concepts, definitions, characteristics, and descriptions of social and cultural relevant phenomena (Hillebrand & Berg, 2006). In addition, qualitative research usually relies on the inductive reasoning process which involves interpreting and structuring meanings that are obtained through qualitative data (Thorne, 2000). Inductive research thus starts with data and uses it to generate ideas or theories from it. This inductive reasoning process makes qualitative research in particular suitable for understanding new phenomena. Moreover, qualitative research methods are most suitable when the research question asks for an in-depth understanding of social practices and concepts (Mack, Woodsong, MacQueen, Guest, & Namey, 2005). As the purpose of this research is to gain an in-depth understanding of the relatively new social practice of online hating and motivations for engaging in this behavior, qualitative methods are most suitable to reach this.

The qualitative research technique that is used in this study to gather data is in-depth interviews. In-depth interviews involve gathering data by conducting individual, intensive interviews with a small number of participants with the aim to find out how they perceive certain social practices and behaviors (Boyce & Neal, 2006). Qualitative research using indepth interviews, therefore is again, in particular, used to explore new issues and generate detailed information about a person's thoughts and behaviors (Boyce & Neal, 2006). Given the academic novelty of the topic of possible motivations of haters for engaging in negative ways with branded content, qualitative interviews are the most appropriate method to generate detailed information on this. The qualitative interviews used for data gathering are semi-structured, meaning that the interview is based upon a loose structure of open-ended questions formulated in an interview guide which define the area that needs to be explored (Britten, 1995). However, the interviewer and the participant can diverge from this structure when they want to explore responses and ideas in more detail. Semi-structured interviews thus allow the researcher to go in-depth with follow-up questions which are, again, useful in

exploring new social practices and behaviors (Boyce & Neal, 2006). In addition, semi-structured interviews have as an advantage that questions can be rephrased, since not every word has the same meaning to every respondent (Barriball & Alison, 1994). Semi-structured interviewing, therefore, allows for some flexibility and reciprocity (Britten, 1995).

Reciprocity between the interviewer and the participants is one of the main advantages of semi-structured interviews and contributes to establishing rapport (Elmir, Schmied, Jackson, & Wilkes, 2011; Galletta, 2013). Reciprocity involves the mutual exchange of information and is based on a universal social norm which involves repaying in kind what has been received (Elmir et al., 2011; Goodman-Delahunty & Howes, 2016). Having reciprocity during interviews enables researchers to obtain more detailed information on the research area than which can be obtained by other data collection methods (Boyce & Neal, 2006). In addition, building rapport with participants is an essential part of successful indepth interviewing on potentially sensitive topics and can lead to participants enhancing the access of the researcher to valuable and potentially sensitive information (Elmir et al., 2011). Rapport with regards to in-depth interviewing has been described as an interpersonal dynamic of trust and openness between people (Goodman-Delahunty & Howes, 2016). Even though building rapport is essential for a successful qualitative interview, it can be a challenge to reach this and get the participant to cooperate. Therefore, several techniques are used to increase trust between the participant and the interviewer in order to get access to more sensitive information. First and foremost, complete anonymity and confidentiality are afforded to the participants based on a written confidentiality statement. The protective cloak of anonymity is found to increase the willingness of participants to share what they truly feel and think (Opdenakker, 2006).

In addition, reciprocity can be used as a technique for building rapport through self-disclosure of the researcher. Self-disclosure can enhance interviews and contribute to creating a less intimidating environment for the participant (Elmir et al., 2011). Moreover, based on the universal social norm of repaying in kind what has been received, self-disclosure can increase the willingness of participants to exchange information with the researcher (Goodman-Delahunty & Howes, 2016). However, self-disclosure can also potentially lead to confusion on the role of the researcher (Elmir et al., 2011). Therefore, the self-disclosure of the researcher in this study is limited to a small introduction and explanation of the personal interest in the topic at the beginning of the interview.

However, one of the limitations of in-depth interviews is that it is prone to confirmation bias when a researcher is already searching for a specific outcome of the study (Boyce & Neal, 2006). As a result, participants might notice what the interests of the researcher are, and respond accordingly to the opinions and understandings of the researcher. This response effect can be reduced by assuring participants at the beginning of the interview that there are no right or wrong answers (Marginson, 2007). Therefore, based on the literature discussed above, a statement on the beginning of the interview is included in the interview guide (Appendix A) in order to reduce confirmation bias and establishing rapport between the interviewer and the participant with the aim to increase the validity and quality of the data.

#### 3.2. Operationalization

Using semi-structured interviews as a research technique requires some previous knowledge on the topic of interest, in order to base the structure of the interview and interview questions on (Kallio, Pietilä, Johnson, & Kangasniemi, 2016). The overall structure and the formulated interview questions in the interview guide, therefore, are informed by the theoretical framework. Based on the theoretical framework the interview guide consists of three main topics, addressing the three sub-questions (Appendix A).

The interview guide starts with addressing haters and their personal negative online engagement behavior on Instagram with fitness influencers with the aim to answer the first sub-question: How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram? Based on theoretical findings, questions on detaching and destructive social media engagement behavior are formed in order to explore the intensity of the negative online engagement behavior of the participant in relation to fitness influencers. Moreover, the first part of the interview guide includes a personal section for each participant based upon the hate comment trough which they were found and contacted on. Questions on the reason for posting this comment contributes to finding out what motivations and utilities are related to the hate comment. This part, therefore, aims to answer the second sub-question: What utilities are obtained by haters of Dutch fitness influencers when engaging with branded content in a negative way?

The second part aims to start a discussion on the possible motivations of haters, by introducing a lack of source credibility and its three main dimensions of attractiveness,

trustworthiness, and expertise as a possible aspect for evoking negative responses. In addition, two posts of Dutch fitness influencers are shown as material probes to the participants in order to make the discussion on a lack of source credibility in relation to negative online engagement behavior more specific. Questions on motivations for negative engagement behavior in relation towards these posts are asked, with the overall aim to link them to the social interaction utility framework and gain deeper insights in the motivations for haters' negative engagement behavior. Moreover, this part serves as a starting point for discussing aspects of branded content that evokes negative engagement behavior among the participants. Therefore, the material probes also aim to answer the third sub-question: What aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters?

Lastly, the third part addresses the disruptiveness of branded content of fitness influencers. Again a post of a Dutch fitness influencer featuring branded content is shown in order to start a discussion on disruptive social media experiences. Moreover, questions on negative engagement behavior with this type of content are asked with the aim to relate possible motivations towards the social interaction utility framework as proposed by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004). As mentioned before, semi-structured interviews give room to go indepth on certain topics or diverge to other topics (Boyce & Neal, 2006). Therefore, by discussing these two possible sources of negative engagement behavior for haters of fitness influencers, other sources can also emerge and be discussed during the interview that is relevant to answering sub-question three. However, the interview guide contributes during the interview in helping the interviewer to address all the topics of study as well as giving the participant guidance on what to talk about (Kallio et al., 2016).

#### 3.3. Sampling

To find out what the motivations of haters of fitness influencers are for engaging in a negative way with their branded content, most of the participants were selected using judgment sampling. When sampling participants within a certain specific domain such as haters on Instagram, the aim is to reduce randomness as much as possible, which makes non-probability sampling approaches the most appropriate. Non-probability sampling consists of various sampling types such as convenience sampling and more purposive methods of sampling (Feild, Pruchno, Bewley, Lemay, & Levinsky, 2006). For this study, the

judgment sampling technique was used to select an appropriate sample of haters of fitness influencers to interview. The judgment sampling technique involves the researcher actively selecting the most productive sample with the aim to answer the research question (M. Marshall, 1996). There are different ways to select a judgment sample, however, in this study, the aim was to find participants who have specific experiences, which is known as a critical case sample (M. Marshall, 1996).

Therefore based upon the following participant definition that is formulated according to the findings on haters in the theoretical framework, ten participants were included in this research; Instagram followers who engage in a negative way with the branded content of successful Dutch fitness influencers, either detaching or destructing, using an inconsiderate style of communication. This participant definition thus excluded constructive feedback which is aimed to improve the performance of others, with the aim to reach an appropriate sample of participants who engage in negative engagement behavior with the content of fitness influencers on Instagram. Judgment sampling is very effective for an exploratory research design as this enables the researcher to actively select the most appropriate participants (Flick, 2011). However, the sampling method is prone to researcher bias in selecting the sample and thus can influence the results (Taherdoost, 2018). The participant definition, therefore, is a tool that limits this bias, since it provides a clear overview of who can and who can't be included in the study based on previous theoretical findings.

Searching for participants was initially based upon the monitoring of three Instagram accounts of Dutch fitness influencers who regularly engage in collaboration with brands. First, the account of Tavi Castro was selected, which is one of the largest fitness influencers of the Netherlands with an amount of 2.7 million followers and often collaborates with gyms and protein brands. The second account that was selected is the account of Lindsey van der Hoeven who has 83.900 followers and collaborates with Body Engineers, which is a fitness fashion brand. The third account that was selected is the account of Sandra Prikker who has 3.3 million followers and she recently started to collaborate with Body en Fit Shop which is a Dutch fitness supplements brand. Lastly, during the interviews, the Instagram accounts of two other Dutch fitness influencers, Joel Beukers and Gaby Blaaser kept coming up. Joel Beukers has an amount of 215.000 followers and heavily promotes his own brand of preworkout powders. Gaby Blaaser has an amount of 242.000 followers and is a Body Engineers

athlete and regularly engages in promotions for Body Engineers. Therefore the accounts of Joel Beukers and Gaby Blaaser were used to find the last two participants. Based on the five Instagram accounts of the fitness influencers mentioned above, a number of 8 participants agreed to participate in this study. One of the remaining participants was encountered through the personal Instagram feed of the researcher, with a hateful comment on the content of a friend. The remaining participant was selected using snowball sampling trough participant one.

In order to provide some insights into the participants, a detailed overview of their demographics and their comments on which participation in this study is based is included in Appendix C. Even though differences in the demographics of age, nationality, and gender are not taken into account in this research, this information is provided, since it gives relevant information on whom the findings of the study apply to. Therefore, detailed participants characteristics provide some insight on the generalizability of the findings and possible limitations of it (Prieler, 2019). The demographics of studies or type of job wasn't specifically asked for in the interview, however, it is added to the participants' demographics when it came up during the interview and seems relevant to this study.

It is often argued that research using small samples has as a disadvantage that the sample is not representative of the entire population and thus decreases the validity of the research. This is related to quantitative research, which often sees representation as the ultimate goal of all good research (M. Marshall, 1996). However, the aim of qualitative research using non-probability sampling is not to generalize to the wider population from a smaller sample, instead, it aims to gain an in-depth understanding of the social practices and behaviors of the participants (Holdaway, 2012). Therefore, taking limited resources into account, exploratory and concept-generating studies can actually benefit from having a relatively small number of participants since it permits the researcher to have repeated contact and greater involvement with the participants, which is beneficial for the validity and reliability of the research (Crouch & McKenzie, 2006). In addition, the appropriate sample size for qualitative interviewing is argued to be when data saturation occurs (M. Marshall, 1996). Qualitative researchers thus should keep expanding their sample size until no new themes or findings emerge from the data. Moreover, ignoring theoretical saturation, and conduct research with a too small sample, can result into theories and findings that are based on inadequate development of patterns and themes and thus affect the reliability and

validity of the research. It is argued by Marsshall, Cardon, Poddar, and Fontenot (2013) that saturation often occurs between 10 and 30 interviews, however, that several interviews past the point of saturation should be conducted to indicate that the data is indeed becoming redundant.

#### 3.4. Data collection and analysis

The data collection was done by conducting interviews with ten participants who suited the participant definition. The interviews were held face-to-face or using the online video calling software of Skype if face-to-face interviewing was not possible. Skype was used due to its screen sharing function which enabled the researcher to share material probes during the interview. Online video calling software was used for the convenience of both the researcher and the participant if the travel distance was too far. In addition, offering the option for doing the interview using video calling software might make participating more accessible for possible participants, since it is free and eliminates travel expenses (Hay-Gibson, 2010). Therefore, using video calling software is considered to be a valid method with great potential for conducting qualitative in-depth interviews (Bertrand & Bourdeau, 2010; Hay-Gibson, 2010). However, if the participants agreed to meet for a face-to-face interview, this was preferred, since it has found to be easier to build rapport with the participant in the physical presence (Bertrand & Bourdeau, 2010). In addition, it can be harder to assure participants of confidentiality using video calling software, which might limit the access of the researcher to sensitive information (Bertrand & Bourdeau, 2010). In order to reduce this, it was stated very clearly at the beginning of the interview that only the audio will be recorded and all data is processed anonymously. Moreover, an informed consent form was given or sent to the participants before conducting the interview. Eventually, four of the ten participants agreed to do the interview face-to-face whereas the remaining six were conducted using Skype.

To make the generated data of the interviews suited for analysis, all the interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Therefore, everything that is said as well as non-verbal sounds such as laughter and pauses are written in the transcript (Guion, Diehl, & McDonald, 2006). However, as five participants indicated they were not fluent in English, they were conducted in Dutch and translated to English in the transcription.

All of the transcriptions then were analyzed based on the thematic analysis method, which is the process of identifying, analyzing and reporting patterns or themes within qualitative data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2014). The two main advantages of thematic analysis are that it is accessible and flexible since it can be conducted in multiple different ways (Braun & Clarke, 2012). However, since this is an explorative research design an inductive analysis approach was chosen to discover main themes through the coding process.

The coding process is divided by Boeije (2004) into three different phases. At first, the transcribed material is broken down and categorized into data, which is called open coding. Open coding is especially relevant for an inductive study since it involves coding any piece of data that might be relevant from a wide range of different perspectives, whereas, deductive studies often have an established coding frame based on previous theory (Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013). Open coding is followed by axial coding which is the process of putting the data back together in new ways by making connections between the open codes. In other words, categories emerge from the open coding process which forms more precise and complete explanations of the open codes (Blair, 2015). Axial coding thus involves searching for indicators and characteristics of concepts and behaviors with the aim to define them (Boeije, 2002). Lastly, selective coding or thematic coding is applied, which involves looking for connections or main themes between the categories. Themes capture important aspects from the data that is relevant to the research question and represent patterned responses or meaning within the data set (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Selective coding thus is the most abstract level of coding and is aimed to answer the main research question by identifying themes in the data (Cheek, 2004).

Using the steps above, three final themes emerged from the coding process; perceptions on Instagram use, obtained utilities for negative engagement behavior, and aspects of the content of fitness influencers on Instagram that evoke negative engagement behavior. These final themes are all relevant in answering one of the three sub-questions, which is presented in detail in the results chapter. The coding process is done using the qualitative data analysis software Atlas.ti which is a useful tool to document analytic decisions in a transparent, reflexive, rigorous and systematic way (Paulus & Lester, 2016). Especially transparency is an important concept when assessing the quality of qualitative research. Transparency is the principle that every scientist should make essential components of the study visible. Therefore, transparency consists of three dimensions; data,

analytic and production transparency (Moravcsik, 2014). Data transparency refers to the amount of access that readers have to the data which is used to support arguments. Analytic transparency refers to information available about the data analysis, and production transparency refers to the information available about the methods by which certain pieces of evidence is selected from the entire data (Moravcsik, 2014). In order to reach transparency in this study, thick descriptions are provided in this chapter on the research design, participant definition, the method, and the data analysis. Taken all the above in account, these methodological steps were followed to select a sample, gather and analyze valid data, with the aim to gain a more complete understanding of the risks of influencer marketing by exploring the motivations of haters to engage in a negative way with the branded content of Dutch fitness influencers.

# 4. Results

This chapter draws upon the three main themes and overall findings that were selected from the interviews with ten haters of fitness influencers during the coding process. The ten interviews were transcribed and analyzed using thematic analysis. During the transcription and open coding process similarities and differences between the participants already became noticeable within the data. In total eight tentative labels emerged from the data, among which relationships and patterns of meanings were identified as three main themes (See Appendix D for code tree). Three final themes thus were derived from the axial codes and divided according to their relevance towards the three sub-questions, hereby following the structure of the theoretical framework. Therefore, in the first part, the perception of the participants on their Instagram use as a final theme is discussed. Among this first part, three axial codes are included to explain the Instagram use of the participants; perception of common practices on Instagram, perception of negative engagement behavior on Instagram, and perceptions of self as a hater on Instagram.

In the second part, the theme of obtained utilities for negative engagement behavior is discussed. Three utilities arose from the data as axial codes; the focus-related utility, the approval utility, and the homeostase utility. The utilities are discussed in this section with regards to the motivations of the participants to engage in a negative way with fitness influencers' content. In the third part, aspects of the branded content of fitness influencers that evoked the participants to respond in a negative way are discussed. Two axial codes were related to this theme are discussed in this section. The axial codes include deceiving content, and sexualization and objectification. All together these three themes with their axial codes and the answers to the three sub-questions aim at providing a final conclusion on the main research question; "What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram?"

# 4.1. Perceptions on Instagram use

The first final theme that was selected from three axial codes was the theme perceptions on Instagram use. This theme is related to the first sub-question that is guiding the research towards answering the main research question. The sub-question was

formulated as follows: "How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram?" The theme 'perceptions of Instagram use' was selected based on three axial codes that emerged from the data: Perception on common practices on Instagram, perception on negative engagement behavior on Instagram and perceptions of self as a hater on Instagram. Together these axial codes provide a clear overview of how the participants display negative engagement behavior on Instagram. Moreover, it is discussed how the participants perceive themselves as haters, and whether the participants felt as if the label of hater was suiting for them and their own negative engagement behavior.

## 4.1.1. Perceptions of common practices on Instagram

In order to assess how haters make use of Instagram, general questions on common practices on Instagram use were asked to the participants. Participants provided several general reasons for using Instagram, however, a few were clearly related towards hater behavior on Instagram. The first finding that stood out on Instagram use of haters was that posting comments was a daily habit for one of the participants regarding his use of Instagram. This is illustrated with the following quote which is his answer to the question of whether he posts comments on Instagram often:

Uhm, well I like to give my opinion [laughter] yeah and I like it a lot too, from my perspective, well I wouldn't call it a professional opinion but it's my vision on their styles and what I think about it. (Participant 6).

Even though other participants did not mention as specific on how often they posted comments, multiple participants did mention that Instagram as a social media platform was meant for people to voice their opinions. Moreover, they argued that negative and hateful comments are inherently part of social media. This finding is illustrated with the following quotes:

Uhm, but I was just like this is social media, everyone is allowed to say whatever they want. And... If I post something negative, it doesn't have to mean I hate her or think she's bad that I'm a bad person. (Participant 3).

I mean that's something you can expect because you put something of yourself on Instagram, fine. But then you also have to expect that there are people who don't like it at all or can do it better or would have done it differently. (Participant 6).

So multiple participants indicated that posting negative comments and voicing your opinion is just part of using social media. This perception of the participants on common practices on Instagram illustrates the findings of Lange, (2007b) who argues that some people might have higher tolerances for confrontational participations and perceive hating behavior in a different way than others. These findings, therefore, might explain why some Instagram users engage in online hating more often whereas others don't. Haters on Instagram thus might differ in their perception on how to use Instagram than others, by perceiving it as a platform where it is allowed to voice your opinions, even when they are critical or hateful. Moreover, this different perception on Instagram use might result in displaying negative engagement behavior more often compared to other Instagram users. Another interesting finding that was related to the Instagram use of haters was that two participants mentioned they actually liked to follow content creators they disagree with or dislike:

Yeah, it's just, uhm there are certain types of people I can't stand and whom I do follow, and I kind of like it to cringe on their content. Like this feeling that it's really weird I think that's sometimes, uhm I don't mind that. And then I can forward it to my friends and say like look at this. (Participant 2).

Uhm, I'm not sure if people have experienced this but uhm there are times that I follow people that I hate to just satisfy my anger I guess. That's why I uhm would continue to follow people even if I don't really like them or that I dislike them a lot. (Participant 8).

When participants thus regularly encounter disliked content, it is probably connected towards posting more negative comments than other Instagram users. Whereas other Instagram users might just not follow or detach themselves from disliked content, haters might actually like to follow disliked content leading to more negative engagement behavior

with the content. The last finding related to the axial code of perception on common practices on Instagram which might be related to more negative engagement behavior was that multiple participants indicated they had more than one Instagram account:

I have two, so I have one for private and one regular, with regular pictures. (Participant 7).

I myself, I have two accounts, one with photography and one with fitness and it is the ultimate way to be seen and yeah to exchange good ideas and that kind of stuff.

(Participant 6).

The main reasons for the participants to have multiple Instagram accounts, based upon the quotes above, seems to be separating private accounts and topic related accounts. Even though the participants did not mention it, having multiple Instagram accounts might enable haters to engage in a negative way with Instagram content more easily. Especially when other Instagram accounts are used anonymously, which is discussed more in-depth in the following axial theme. However, based upon the findings above the perception of haters on Instagram and how to make use of it seems to be inherently connected towards their negative engagement behavior on Instagram. Therefore, these findings indicate that social media platforms who are struggling with a large amount of negative engagement behavior on it might benefit from addressing the differing perceptions of haters of the platform an how to use it, by providing them with a detailed description on social and civil behavior on the platform. However, these findings can serve as a starting point to address this issue but further research is necessary in order to come up with working and effective solutions to decrease hater behavior on social media.

## 4.1.2. Perceptions of negative engagement behavior on Instagram

The second axial code that is relevant to the selective theme of 'perceptions of Instagram use' and answering the first sub-question is the perceptions of haters on negative engagement behavior on Instagram. As mentioned within the theoretical framework, the level of anonymity has been argued by several authors to be one of the most corrosive elements of the internet that creates an uncivil online world. Anonymity can foster a loss of

self-awareness which in turn increase the likelihood of acting upon impulses that are normally inhibited (Hardaker, 2013; Keen, 2007). However, only three out of the ten participants indicated that they did not mention their own name on their Instagram account. The reasons why the participants wanted to use Instagram anonymously are illustrated with the quotes below:

Yeah, I think it's actually a weird idea that when you google someone you can find everything about that person's life. So I'm like it's fine if people follow me, it's a public profile but I wouldn't like it if people are just looking at my profile when they typed my name in at Google. (Participant 3)

It's more personal and then Instagram is more, yeah my Instagram is more open. So everyone can see it and I don't really want people to know my real name, because it's I mean it's not a common name so they can easily find my stuff there and I don't like that so. That's why. (Participant 6).

I follow a lot of friends on who are like who I game with so they have Instagram as well, but I follow them as well. And I mean it's not necessary for them to know who I am. So... Like them to know my face and stuff. Like that. (Participant 9).

Since only three participants mentioned they used Instagram anonymously, there was not a lot of evidence that anonymous use leads towards more hateful comments than others on Instagram. Nonetheless, the findings of the three participants above did align with the findings of Mondal, Silva and Benevenuto (2017) who argue that the level of anonymity that is experienced by the users can favor negative online engagement behavior. However, an interesting addition to this finding is that multiple participants mentioned they also experienced some level of anonymity due to the number of comments that a post has on it. How the participants experienced this anonymity is illustrated with the quotes below:

Yeah, because when there are only a few followers, you get more in the spotlight or something like that. So I don't really like that. And I was thinking like oh he has enough followers so it's not like I really stand out when I post something critical.

(Participant 3).

Yeah, I think it does because it's more anonymous and you don't get criticized by everyone who likes him. So they start hating on you while you say just one thing about him. (Participant 9).

The findings above clarify how participants who do not use a fake name or nickname on their account can still feel anonymous enough to post negative comments without expecting it to have consequences for them personally. However, not all of the participants needed to experience anonymity on Instagram in order for them to display negative engagement behavior:

No I'm not trying to hide there, like I just said if she was sitting here next to me I would say the same. (Participant 4).

I always think face-to-face is the best way, but because these people are famous, you will probably never meet them and they do expose themselves on the internet. You have the right to be honest and say something to them so... Yes. (Participant 10).

Both of the participants above have Instagram accounts using their personal full name. Therefore, this finding agrees with the research of Lange (2007a) who found that adding personal information on social media accounts does not guarantee cordial interaction since not all social media users perceive online hating as a problem in the same degree. Moreover, the finding above indicates that even when Instagram would succeed in reducing the anonymity of their users, online hating would probably still occur due to differing perceptions of their users on hating and negative engagement behavior. As mentioned in the theoretical framework, negative engagement behavior consists of two types: detaching- and destructive engagement behavior. Since all of the participants were selected based upon a destructive comment, all of them did at least once engage in a destructive hateful way with the content of successful Dutch fitness influencers. The destructive engagement behavior of the participants is illustrated within the following quotes:

And he has a pretty good body and then I just dislike the way he took the picture and his feet. So I commented and tagged a friend and I was like what is wrong with him, why did he took a picture like that. So yeah... not proud of it [laughter]. (Participant 5).

Because I have quite a bit of knowledge about the anatomy of people and muscles so I know for example from my own experience and my experience with other people that certain exercises don't work. So yeah then I type like dude this is just an exercise you that doesn't give you any effects at all (Participant 6).

Thus, all of the participants have at least once posted a destructive comment on the content of a Dutch fitness influencer which made them fit the participant definition:

Instagram followers who engage in a negative way with the branded content of successful Dutch fitness influencers, either detaching or destructing, using an inconsiderate style of communication. The participants thus were selected based upon public destructive engagement behavior. However, a less public way of destructive engagement behavior came forward in the data as well:

Yeah, it looks really fake, very posed and yeah I shared it with my friends. Like who, what the fuck is she doing. Like that, yeah (Participant 4).

Since destructive social media engagement behavior is defined as the act of making active negative contributions on social media platforms (Dolan et al., 2016), sending negative comments on fitness influencers to friends in direct messages are also part of it. Hating on Instagram thus can be done in a public way by putting comments under disliked content or in a more private way by sending direct messages to either the content creator or friends about the disliked content. However, the largest part of the participants actually indicated a preference towards detaching social media engagement behavior over posting a destructive comment on it. Detaching engagement behavior was defined as the act of removing content that appears on the users home page or news feed (Dolan et al., 2016). Detaching social media, therefore, is illustrated within the quotes below:

I follow around 800 people and I have the idea that I miss out on a lot, so every time I see a post and I think like what's this, then I click on the profile to see what kind of profile it is and if I don't like it anymore I unfollow. (Participant 3).

Every once in a while I go down my timeline and my follower list and then I click on unfollow because I'm thinking that's a lot of shit and I don't need that anymore. Uhm, it may sound a bit savage when I call people shit, but uhm. Yeah, they don't have any value for me anymore. And I don't have to let them know because that's my opinion and there are a lot of people who do appreciate it. (Participant 2)

Therefore, these findings also agree with the findings of Mai (2007), who argued that key factors in relationship detachment are the perception of quality and emotional involvement. Bad content and weak emotional ties with fitness influencers, therefore, might be one of the reasons for haters to detach themselves from fitness influencers by unfollowing them. However, another way of detaching engagement behavior that all of the participants mentioned to display often was just scrolling away from the disliked content of fitness influencers;

No, it's your own choice, you can just click it away or scroll. (Participant 10).

If it's indeed, that's the beauty of Instagram, if you don't like it you just keep on scrolling. (Participant 6).

I scroll it away, like whoop, bye! (Participant 4).

So based upon the findings above, an experienced level of anonymity does play a role in negative engagement behavior, however, is not solely responsible for it. The perceptions of users on the social media platform and how to make use of it plays a large role in it as well. Moreover, Instagram users can display destructive social media engagement behavior in multiple ways, either posting a destructive comment directly on the post, sending it forward towards their friends with a destructive comment or sending destructive comments to the content creator directly. Sending destructive comments directly towards friends is

interrelated with the approval utility which is discussed in section 4.2.2. In addition, most participants showed a preference for detaching social media engagement behavior over destructive social media engagement behavior. They mentioned that it was less of an effort to just click unfollow or just scroll disliked content away. Especially scrolling disliked content away was mentioned by all of the participants as an easy and effortless way of detaching from disliked content.

## 4.1.3. Perceptions of self as a hater on Instagram

The third axial code that is relevant to the theme of Instagram use of haters is how the participants perceived themselves as haters on Instagram. In order to find out about their perceptions of themselves as haters, first, they were asked towards their perception of haters on social media in general. When asking them how they perceived haters, all of the participants defined haters as being very negative on social media and acting aggressive, jealous or as bullies. This general perception of haters is illustrated with the following quotes:

I think the main difference is that a hater will just be really personal on what they call, in what they say, and also be more aggressive about it. So like, so be more like a bully. (Participant 1).

Uhm, hating, hating is people who make fake Instagram accounts and they are not confident enough or how do you, how do you say that... They are just pussies. They really are the lamest people ever. They create a fake profile and post hate. And then I'm really thinking like yeah you know you really got no balls I think. But then you do, it's really bullying it's really bullying other people. (Participant 4).

The definitions that the participants provided on haters are closely connected towards the findings in the theoretical framework and the definition of haters which is used in this research as 'a social media user who engages with the content of other successful users in a negative way, either detaching or destructing. Moreover, these social media users deliver feedback using an inconsiderate style of communication in the case of destructing engagement behavior.' However, none of the definitions that the participants provided

included detaching social media behavior as part of hating, nor did they include engaging in destructive engagement behavior in a more private way. Moreover, even though all of the participants were selected based on a public destructive comment, none of the participants fully identified themselves as a hater. This is illustrated within the following quotes:

A hater does it because they wanna get people down or something, out of jealousy.

But I don't do it out of jealousy, I'm not jealous at those people. I don't wanna, I don't wanna be those people at all no. [laughter]. It's more that yeah. This Instagram world it's crazy, yeah, it's more like that. (Participant 4)

No, but I think there is a difference between posting critical comments or, you see a lot of cursing in the comments and the only thing I do is saying that I sometimes do think different about something with a tag to one of my friends. Like yeah bro you know, don't do this shit. Or uhm, well uhm, this is such bullshit. Or like this comment over there, it's not that I'm hating or something, or I'm saying she's entirely wrong (Participant 2).

I was doubting to delete the comment but I was just thinking like I hope the.. uhm that it won't get any attention further on. So I don't look like a hater or something like that. Uhm, but I was just like this is social media, everyone is allowed to say whatever they want. And... If I post something negative, it doesn't have to mean I hate her or think she's bad that I'm a bad person. (Participant 3).

Moreover, instead of perceiving their own behavior as hating, multiple participants pointed out that others online are so sensitive and nowadays you can't say anything anymore:

Yeah, nowadays you have to be careful with what you're saying because people are so sensitive. (Participant 6).

And nowadays people are very uhm, how do you say that, uhm how do you say it.

They're very sensitive like everything is racist, everything is this, everything is that.

#### (Participant 5)

As mentioned before not all social media users perceive online hating as a problem in the same degree (Lange, 2007a). Therefore, by calling online others as sensitive, haters might justify their own negative online engagement behavior which they don't perceive as problematic as others. Therefore none of the participants did perceive themselves as haters nor their negative engagement behavior as a problem, even when some of them have been called out as a hater by others:

Uhm well, it was just a friend of mine because I commented on something in a negative way and she was like your just being a hater like you're just jealous or whatsoever... And she's kinda right. [laughter]. (Participant 5).

Nah, of course, I see why people think I'm a hater, the things I say are not always nice but... In my opinion, it's the truth. Yeah. (Participant 4).

It wasn't necessarily like a hater but probably like a nag or something like that. Yeah, that they didn't really get why I said those things. (Participant 6).

Since none of the participants perceived themselves as a hater, they were asked how they would perceive themselves and their negative behavior on Instagram. Multiple participants mentioned they felt more comfortable with the label of fitness influencer critic as illustrated with the following quote:

Yeah, I would call myself a critic because I would people, I want people to be conscious about what they look at, what they think, what they see, what it does to you. Consciousness is really important in every single way. (Participant 10).

Overall to answer the first sub-question; "How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram?" none of the participants perceived their own use of Instagram as hating, even though they did define hating as posting hateful comments and they were all selected to participate in this research based upon a hateful comment.

Moreover, they justify their behavior by saying online others are so sensitive nowadays and posting negative comments is inherently part of using Instagram. Therefore, the participants perceived it to be okay to voice negative or hateful opinions on it. Posting negative or hateful comments, therefore, might be the result of a higher tolerance for confrontational interactions or a different perception on how to use Instagram compared to other users. However, the majority of the participants did indicate they rather engage with disliked content in a detaching way by unfollowing or scrolling past the disliked content then posting a negative comment on it. These findings could be the results of a social desirability response bias during the sampling and the interviewing. Moreover, the definitions that the participants provided on haters did not include private destructive social media engagement nor detaching social media engagement as part of hating. Therefore, these findings indicate that there is a need for a concept which is less strongly associated with haters as jealous online bullies and is more descriptive for the negative online engagement behavior, either public or private, as displayed by the participants and other Instagram users.

## 4.2. Utilities of negative engagement behavior

The second sub-question which serves as a stepping stone to answering the main research question was formulated as follows: What utilities are obtained by haters of Dutch fitness influencers by engaging with their content in a negative way? Three of the five utilities as proposed by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) were found in the data and identified as axial codes. Therefore the three axial codes that are relevant to this sub-question are the focus-related utility, the approval utility, and the homeostase utility. Some of the utilities were more present than others, however, all three of the utilities came up when discussing why the participants displayed negative online engagement behavior on Instagram with the content of fitness influencers. Therefore the utilities are discussed below with the aim to gain a clear picture on the motivations of haters for and the utilities they derive from engaging in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers on Instagram.

## *4.2.1.* The focus-related utility

As mentioned in the theoretical framework, the focus-related utility is based on the assumption of adding value to the community (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). According to this assumption individuals who post comments on Instagram thus have the feeling they add

value with their contributions to the overall community in which they are participating. The focus-related utility existed of four proposed motivations for online engagement as proposed by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004); concern for others, helping the company, social benefit, and exertion of collective power over companies. However, only the concern for others motivation arose from the data. This concern for others as a motivation for posting negative comments in order to receive the focus-related utility is illustrated with the following quotes of the participants on why they posted the hater comment on which their inclusion in this study was based:

Uhm, to educate the person that posted it and also maybe others that see it. (Participant 1).

So but it was something like maybe she sees it, maybe it comes across her or maybe others will see it and read it and they will research it instead of believing the very first thing Sandra Prikker is saying. (Participant 2).

Because you only make the world a better place when you start with yourself. So and if this means to point something out to others then I'm fine with that. (Participant 3).

The findings above demonstrate that in particular wrong information or content that was perceived as fake lead to five of the participants posting a comment based on their concern for others. With concern for others, not only concern for other followers of a particular influencer is meant but also the influencer itself. Comments that are based upon the concern for others motivation, however, might also be perceived as constructive feedback, since the aim of constructive feedback is to improve the knowledge of others, instead of stopping the content creator from making content (Hardavella et al., 2017; Lange, 2007a). When haters on Instagram thus post a comment that comes from altruist motivations to inform other followers on wrong or misleading content, it might be intended by them as constructive feedback, aiming to improve the knowledge of others. However, in this study, their comments were perceived as hater comments since they delivered destructive feedback, which is defined as negative feedback delivered in an inconsiderate style with inconsiderate content (Raver et al., 2012). Their inconsiderate style of

communication thus resulted in them being included in this research.

As mentioned in the discussion of the first theme, none of the participants did perceive themselves as haters, which might be related to the altruist concern for other motivation based on which they posted their negative comment. Therefore, these findings indicate again that there is a need for a concept which covers negative online engagement behavior in less of an extreme form as online bullies with fake profiles which have been found to be the perception on haters of the participants. Even though the participants did fit the definition of haters in this research the findings indicate that the participants did not feel like the concept suited their own behavior and perceptions. Moreover, these findings on altruist motivations for posting negative comments support the lack of the participants of perceiving themselves as haters.

## 4.2.2. The approval utility

The approval utility turned out to be a very strong motivator for the participants to post negative comments on the content of Dutch fitness influencers. As mentioned in the theory the approval utility is derived from the feeling of satisfaction when others consume and approve personal contributions (Balasubramanian & Mahajan, 2001). Under the approval utility, the self-enhancing motivation for engaging with eWOM was identified by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) and defined as the desire of people to receive positive recognition of others (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). While this might not be the first motivation that comes to mind when posting hateful comments, the participants did indicate that they like to post controversial comments to see whether others agree with them:

And, it's not that I always comment on these things, but at the times I'm thinking like this really is about nothing, and I'm seeing other people who actually go against it and go like yeah you're right and this Demi Bielaski shouldn't wine like this then yeah I'm the one who comments on that like, guys what's this, and I see if I'm people agree with me or if I'm crazy to have this kind of thoughts. (Participant 2).

I didn't really have this idea like I'm going to post annoying comments on anything to

get likes on it or something. But I think I like it to know I'm not the only one who thinks about it like that. (Participant 3).

Yeah, I wanted to ask if she, well my intention was to hear other opinions of other people I think. What they thought about it. (Participant 7).

Thus participants posted negative comments from self-enhancing motivations with the aim to get positive responses. This is related to the finding of Hardaker (2013) who argued that in some context, mean critical commentary and deliberately trying to anger others can serve as a mean to connect with other users who like to be provocative. Haters on Instagram thus might be driven by the self-enhancement motivation to post critical or mean comments in order to obtain the approval utility of others who agree with them. Moreover, one of the participants mentioned she also engaged in supporting other controversial or hater comments in order to give approval to others on Instagram:

Yeah, I wanna support all the people who agree with me of the fakeness. And I'm like yes I'm with you guys, yeah. (Participant 4).

As illustrated with the quote above giving approval to others on social media is related to the motivation of social benefits. This motivation is defined by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) as the motivation to participate in online communities in order to identify and integrate with them. The participation as described with the quote above thus creates a sense of belonging for the participant to the online community which was criticizing the photoshopped content of an influencer. In the theoretical framework, the social benefits motivation is argued to be part of the focus-related utility, which is obtained by users through the sense of adding value to online communities by their contributions (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). However, as demonstrated above, the social benefits motivation seems to be closely related to approval utility. By giving positive responses to others, and receiving positive responses from others, social media users thus can experience a sense of belonging towards an online community. The social interaction utilities, therefore, seem to be interrelated to each other.

Overall, getting likes and positive responses on, and giving them to hater comments thus appear to be an important part of negative online engagement behavior. Moreover, the majority of the participants explicitly said that it actually felt good when they got likes and positive responses from others:

I often get a lot of likes for it. But yeah this did stand out to me then I get a notification of likes and I'm thinking yeah so I was right about this, and that's quite uhm... Yeah, but it is often really paid for or arrogant. But then it's also a good confirmation that you have more knowledge on the right things. (Participant 2).

Yeah, quite positive. And it wasn't like I'm going to post negative comments on anything now, but it was like I'm not the only one who thinks about it like this so I'm happy with that. That I'm not looking weird up there. (Participant 3).

Yeah, I think so because I mean they, I feel like they are on, that I was right, kind of. (Participant 5).

Positive responses on the comments of haters, therefore, gives them a feeling of expertise, assures them on their knowledge and assures them they are not the only one with these controversial or differing opinions. Therefore, positive responses to hater comments might reinforce haters on Instagram to keep posting negative comments from self-enhancing motivations. In addition, aiming to increase the chances of receiving the approval utility, the participants mentioned they often tag friends in their comments, as illustrated within the following quotes:

No, but I think there is a difference between posting critical comments or, you see a lot of cursing in the comments and the only thing I do is saying that I sometimes do think different about something with a tag to one of my friends. Like yeah bro you know, don't to this shit.. (Participant 2).

So I commented and tagged a friend and I was like what is wrong with him, why did

he took a picture like that. So yeah... not proud of it [laughter]. (Participant 5).

The participants mentioned their friends often agree with them on their controversial or hateful opinions either on public comments or private messages. The findings on the approval utility, therefore, are also related to a less public way of destructive engagement behavior, by sending disliked content towards friends in direct messages:

Yeah, it looks really fake, very posed and yeah I shared it with my friends. Like who, what the fuck is she doing. Like that, yeah. (Participant 4).

Yeah, it's just, uhm there are certain types of people I can't stand and whom I do follow, and I kind of like it to cringe on their content. Like this feeling that it's really weird I think that's sometimes, uhm I don't mind that. And then I can forward it to my friends and say like look at this. For example like Nicky Bos and uhm. No not Nicky Bos, people like Sandra Prikker. (Participant 2).

As mentioned before in the theoretical framework on negative engagement behavior, forwarding disliked content in DM's is a more private way of online hating. However, this private way of destructive engagement behavior actually increases the chances for the haters to get self-enhancing responses back from their friends. Overall, haters also appear to receive self-enhancing responses on public hateful comments from strangers, hereby receiving the positive feeling of the approval utility trough likes and positive comments on their hateful comment. Receiving the approval utility, therefore, might be a large part of the reason why haters on Instagram post public negative comments on the content of successful influencers.

## 4.2.3. The homeostase utility

Lastly, the homeostase utility was found to be related to the negative engagement behavior of the participant. As mentioned in the theory, the homeostase utility is based upon the assumption that all individuals strive for balance in their lives. The venting negative feelings motivation was identified by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) as a reason for consumers

to engage with eWOM with the aim to restore their balance. According to Hennig-Thureau et al. (2004), venting negative feelings can help in reducing the discontent which is associated with the negative emotions of the participant. The venting negative feelings motivation, therefore, is the most related to existing definitions of haters as explored within the theoretical framework. Existing definitions perceive haters as social media users who cannot be happy for the success of others. Moreover, haters are perceived as users who "hate for irrational reasons and more for the sake of hate itself" (Mackenzie, 2013). Therefore, existing definitions already imply that haters act from jealous motivations, which is related to the motivation of venting negative feelings for restoring balance. However, previous findings already proved that haters and their motivations for negative engagement behavior with the content of fitness influencers on Instagram go further than this.

Nonetheless, venting negative feelings was also found to be part of negative engagement behavior. Three of the participants did indicate that they were sooner to post a negative comment on the content of Dutch fitness influencers on Instagram when they were experiencing negative feelings. This is illustrated within the following quotes:

I don't really know, I also had quite a bad day at my work and then I saw this picture and I just thought why? (Participant 2).

No, I think I may if I feel a little bit bad I would maybe tag a friend in it and be like this is clearly advertisement and like you know call it out (Participant 5 on picture 2, Appendix B).

No, if I'm really in a bad mood I could say don't overreact like that. (Participant 6 on picture 3, Appendix B).

Therefore, the three participants above indicate that they are more likely to post a negative comment when experiencing a bad day or having a bad mood, which agrees with the existing definitions of haters. Moreover, participants indicated they were also more likely to comment when the content itself was evoking negative feelings. Especially feeling annoyed was often mentioned by the participant as a reason to post a comment:

I just saw this picture and I just posted this comment because it annoyed me and I thought like why do they have to do this over and over again. (Participant 3).

Anthony! Kruijver! Yeah, he just got really annoying. (Participant 2).

Really annoying. It's yeah it's really uhm this, yeah it's annoying. I don't like it. (Participant 5).

The different aspects of the content of fitness influencers that are responsible for evoking this feeling of annoyance are further discussed in the following part. However, annoyance seems to be related to the negative engagement behavior of haters on Instagram based upon the findings above. So overall the three main utilities which were derived by the participants by posting negative comments online are the focus related utility, from the concern for others motivation, the approval utility from the self-enhancing motivation and the homeostase utility from the venting negative feelings motivation. Therefore, these findings prove that hating and their negative engagement behavior goes further than existing definitions of haters which imply that haters mainly act out of jealousy. Especially the self-enhancing motivation was indicated to be a large part of posting negative comments by the participants. As mentioned before, the approval utility might not be the first one that comes to mind when discussing motivations of haters to post negative comments, however, this finding might indicate that haters actually aim to strengthen their ties with certain subcommunities on Instagram using the conflict and disagreement with other communities. These sub-communities might exist of friends, whom haters aim to receive approval from by disagreeing or ridiculing content on Instagram, or strangers who share the same opinion on certain matters.

Whereas the approval utility and the homeostase utility are more clearly related towards the definition of haters, the focus-related utility with the concern for others motivation to post negative comments might seem a bit out of place. Especially since those type of hater comments are posted from altruist motivations, aiming to improve the knowledge of others and protect them from making bad decisions. Moreover, since these participants did not perceive themselves as haters, these findings indicate that there is a need for a concept that covers their negative online engagement behavior and is perceived

less extreme than haters, which defined by the participants as someone who uses fake accounts to bully others online.

## 4.3. Negative engagement behavior evoking aspects

The third and the last theme goes more in-depth on what aspects of the content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among the participants. Therefore this part aims to answer the third sub-question: What aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters? Two axial codes emerged from the data as aspects of the content of fitness influencers which evoked negative engagement behavior: source credibility, and sexualization and objectification. The overall theme and the axial codes of which it emerged from are discussed in detail in the following two sections.

#### *4.3.1.* Deceiving content

Deceiving content turned out to be an important aspect of the content of Dutch influencers for evoking negative engagement behavior. Especially fake content was found to evoke annoying feelings among the participants. However, the participants had some differing perceptions of fake content. Three of the participants used the concept of 'fake content' for both photoshopped and overly posed content, whereas two others used 'fake content' mainly for influencers who undergone plastic surgery. Nonetheless, how perceived fake content served as a source for evoking negative engagement behavior is illustrated with the following quotes:

And uhm, it was obvious very photoshopped. So the whole world raged on the girl that it was super photoshopped and I did it as well. I was like no this is this is weird, this is photoshop it's not... You know, because I wanna make people aware that the children or other people who are like oh my god, she is so, she is so perfect. No bitch, she's not perfect. She's it's just the photo, it's photoshopped, you know. (Participant 4).

And also, maybe also, because it frustrates me when people post fake photos like that, and they give a wrong image of what is possible. Uhm and then, in this case, I could respond because I knew him (Participant 1).

Hmm, yeah [laughter] yeah a little, okay a little bit bad and also good because I feel like I, I called them out and that I got it out that they're, they're too posing or too fake. (Participant 5).

Therefore, despite the differing definitions of face content, when content was perceived as fake by the participants it leads to more negative comments on it. In particular content that strived to portray an ideal body image, however, faked it by using either photoshop, weird poses or plastic surgery was perceived as annoying, unauthentic and misleading. However, besides their content, influencers themselves were also being perceived as fake by the participants based on their intrinsic motivations for placing certain content. Instead of posting unique, original and independent content, which was found to be the definition of authentic by Khamis et al. (2017), the participants addressed influencers as fake when they post content based on commercial motivations. Therefore, how the intrinsic motivations of fitness influencers are perceived by the participants is illustrated with the following quotes:

No, I don't see her as honest, I just see it as promotions and everything she does I see it as an attempt to make advertisements for media stunts then... (Participant 2 about picture 3, Appendix B).

Yeah, yeah... She is, she's the same. I mean she's a pretty girl of course. It's all about the uhm yeah. She uhm. It's all about the likes, it's all about the followers. (Participant 4).

Oh, I really hate that. Just like Laura, she does korfball and at first, I liked her but when she became one big billboard I unfollowed her. (Participant 7).

These findings thus agree with the findings of Khamis et al. (2017) saying when consumers perceive influencers as being dependent on the brands they endorse, their perception of authenticity gets harmed. This harmed perception of authenticity thus can

lead to more negative engagement behavior either destructive or detaching. Overall, deceiving content can have severe effects on the credibility of fitness influencers, harming their perceived authenticity, and trustworthiness. Advertisement recognition thus can lead to negative perceptions of the intrinsic motivations of fitness influencers. However, as it is argued within the theoretical framework, advertisement recognition was also found to be related to disruptive social media experiences. Sponsored content thus using disclosure language was found to increase the level of disruptiveness experienced on social media platforms (Evans et al., 2017). Therefore, it was expected that sponsored content in this study would lead to more negative engagement responses. However, the participants indicated that they did not mind seeing sponsored posts of fitness influencers as longs as it's not too often:

Yeah, they really try to sell something you know, so then I know they also get paid to offer a certain service. Yeah and basically 9 out of 10 times I don't go into that but then still the quality of the pictures can be really good, so then I do push the like button to say so. (Participant 6).

No, no I wouldn't comment on this because it's their good right to earn money with Instagram. It happens a lot nowadays, and they surely should do it. (Participant 2).

Then I don't mind, well as at least when it's not like 100% ads, and then it's fine. Of course, the people that make content also makes have to make money, to make content. (Participant 1).

Multiple participants thus did not mind seeing some sponsored content, however, they did mention that they would sooner unfollow them if it becomes too much. Therefore, as mentioned in the theoretical framework Evans et al. (2017) argue that disclosure language is positively related to advertisement recognition and in turn has a negative impact on consumer attitudes. However, the participants in this research actually said they appreciated disclosure language and it leads to them having a more genuine and credible perception of the influencers:

Oh, it's awesome! Yeah, it's great, yeah. Because now you know if they really use it, they really bought it with their own money or they get stuff sent you know like they get stuff sent to them. So I think it's great! (Participant 4).

Yeah. Yeah. being honest about it, when it's an ad, or when you're sponsored, or this is really important. (Participant 1).

Yeah covert and then I disagree with that but if they are being honest about it then I would really be like oh it's advertisement but it's clear also so I just... (Participant 5).

Overall these findings above suggest that a lack of source credibility can lead to more negative online engagement behavior. However, instead of what was expected according to theory, disclosure language did not decrease the consumer attitude towards the influencers, instead, they perceived influencers who did use disclosure language as more transparent and honest. Therefore, increasing the advertisement recognition among their followers could positively contribute to their follower's perception of them as being honest and transparent and thus more credible sources on Instagram.

#### 4.3.2 Sexualization and objectification

Another aspect of the content of fitness influencers that emerged from the data for evoking negative engagement behavior was sexualized content and the objectification of women. Out of the 10 participants 6 did mention they annoyed themselves on sexualized content which shows almost naked women. For two of them, this type of content actually lead to posting a negative comment, and the others mentioned they did annoy themselves on and sometimes detached themselves from this type of content. The annoyance of the participants on sexualized and objectified content is illustrated within the following quotes:

And then he does these weird shoots on how he stands behind this chick in a sexual way and that got me thinking like yeah... Is this what I am looking for, no not really. I am watching because I want to see exercises and how to implement them and yeah... Yeah, and if you want to see these kinds of things then you should start looking for porn so to speak. Yeah [laughter] that's not why you follow a fitness influencer for. So

yeah, that was the thing that got me thinking like, okay I'm going to unfollow him. (Participant 2).

And she had a nice feed. Uhm, and it wasn't all about like hey look at my tight abs or something like that so I started following her. Uhm and then this one time again it was like this stupid picture in which women just serve as a sex object. And I did post a negative comment on that as well. (Participant 3).

Uhm yeah, they say sex sells you know? And that's actually what they are trying here, they are actually trying to get the attention with this picture by using a lot of skin.

(Participant 6 on picture 1, Appendix B).

Therefore, sexualized and objectified content seems not to be the reason for the participants to follow fitness influencers. Moreover, it evokes annoyance resulting in negative engagement behavior, either destructive or detaching. However, when asking a bit further why the content evoked annoying feelings in relation to their own body image, multiple participants mentioned they did get insecure due to the content of fitness influencers and the ideal body image they represent. This is illustrated with the following quotes:

But uhm you know, it's like I don't count anymore. If I don't have these abs like they have, it's like oh so this is how we all need to be in this world. And if you're don't have these abs or these size boobs, or whatever, I am, I'm not sexy anymore or whatever you know? It's like this is what I need to be, and that's the world we live in and that's what I really hate. Yeah, I really hate that. (Participant 4).

Because I mean when you look at like, it's the point of Instagram. You look at uhm, well not the point of Instagram but when you look constantly look at the success of others and you just look at your own success and just see that you like well then you think you are unsuccessful because you don't have two golden cars or you don't have muscles like that guy or uhm... Yeah. (Participant 9).

I would like them to share that uhm their lifestyle is their choice and their body type is their choice and if you look any other way, that's okay too. And uhm, of course, they can promote a healthy lifestyle as long as it's legit. And uhm I just don't want them to uhm give girls insecurities and bulimia and anorexia and other scary stuff and a really bad self-image. It's just really bad. (Participant 10).

Therefore, even though it was not anticipated, sexualized content and objectification seems to be a large part of the Instagram fitness culture. Moreover, this type of content seems to have severe effects on Instagram users in terms of harming their body image. Therefore, sexualized and objectified content on ideal body images might be a large aspect of the content of fitness influencers which evokes annoyance and in turn results in negative engagement behavior. Even the participants who did not into their own body insecurities did mention they annoyed themselves on this type of content since it is not the reason for which they follow fitness influencers. Therefore sexualized content of fitness influencers seems to evoke negative engagement behavior in the form of destructive comments and detaching behavior.

Based upon all the findings above the final answer towards the main research question "What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram?" is connected to multiple aspects of the social media platform and the content of fitness influencers. First, the type of content that is commented most on by the participants is often perceived as either fake or sexualized. These type of content evoke negative engagement behavior and the participants post comments or engage in another negative way with the content from different motivations. The motivations that are found in this research to be connected with negative engagement behavior are the concern for others motivation, the self-enhancing motivation and the venting negative feelings motivation. Driven by these three motivations, participants post a comment whereby they either obtain the focus-related utility, the approval utility or the homeostase utility. Often are these utilities interrelated with each other, when for example a participant posted from the motivation to vent negative feelings and perceived the homeostase utility, but also the approval utility when others gave positive responses. The motivations and utilities, therefore, seem to be interrelated with each other. However, concern for others, self-enhancement and venting negative feelings are found to be the

main motivations for destructive engagement behavior with the content of Dutch fitness influencers.

## 5. Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to investigate the phenomenon of haters and their negative engagement behavior on social media. The topic was framed around the motivations of haters for engaging in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers. Investigating this topic, this study aimed to tighten the literature gap on the risks of influencers marketing and exploring the phenomenon of haters and their negative engagement behavior with branded content. The study is based upon several theories regarding negative engagement behavior; the social interaction utility framework, source credibility theory and the persuasion knowledge model as presented in the theoretical chapter. However, of these theories, the social interaction utility framework and its related motivations for engaging with eWOM as identified by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) served as the main framework to discuss the motivations for haters to engage in a negative way with the content of Dutch fitness influencers. Three of its' five utilities were found to be connected to negative engagement behavior on Instagram: the focus-related utility, the approval utility and the homeostase utility. These three utilities and their related motivations are discussed in-depth later on in this conclusion.

Some previous studies explored online flaming and negative online engagement behavior on social media (Lange, 2007b, 2014; O'Sullivan & Flanagin, 2003), however, this is one of the few existing studies exploring the phenomenon of haters from a qualitative approach, using semi-structured in-depth interviews with ten Instagram users who were identified as haters. Using thematic analysis and following the coding process as divided by Boeije (2002) into open, axial, and selective coding, three final themes emerged from the data; perceptions on Instagram use, utilities of negative engagement behavior, and negative engagement behavior evoking aspects of the content of Dutch fitness influencers. Together these findings adequately provided an answer onto the main research question: What are the motivations of the haters of Dutch fitness influencers to engage in a negative way with their branded content on Instagram? and the three sub-questions which served as stepping stones towards a final conclusion as demonstrated within the following paragraphs.

The first sub-question addressed the definition of haters and their negative engagement behavior on Instagram. The question was formulated as follows: *How do haters of Dutch fitness influencers perceive their own use of Instagram?* According to the findings,

there are a few particular ways in which haters make use of Instagram that results in negative engagement behavior with the content on the platform. First and foremost, it was found that haters might differ in their overall perception of Instagram and how to make use of it, seeing Instagram as a platform where it is okay and even expected to share opinions and thoughts even if they are critical, negative or hateful. Moreover, it was mentioned by a few participants they actually liked to follow content creators they didn't agree with in order to satisfy their need for conflict. This type of Instagram use, therefore, is inherently connected with an increased amount of negative engagement behavior on the platform. However, another important practice on Instagram by haters which is closely related to their negative engagement behaviors is using it anonymously. Even though not all participants did use fake names or nicknames on their Instagram account, multiple participants mentioned they preferred using Instagram anonymously, so others would not know who they are. This finding thus aligns with the findings of Mondal, Silva and Benevenuto (2017) who argue that the level of anonymity that is experienced by the users can favor negative online engagement behavior. However, an interesting addition to this finding in this study is that participants who did not use Instagram anonymously argued they still experience some level of anonymity due to a large number of comments under the posts of successful fitness influencers, making them feel more comfortable with posting a negative or hateful comment.

Haters on Instagram are found to display negative online engagement behavior in either destructive or detaching ways. Destructive engagement behavior on Instagram is done by publicly posting negative comments on the content of content creators or more private by sending either the content creator or friends destructive comments on the content in private direct messages. Especially sending destructive comments to friends was found to happen often, and is strongly related towards the approval utility as discussed among the second sub-question. Detaching engagement behavior on Instagram is found to happen by either unfollowing or just clicking or scrolling away from the content. In particular clicking or scrolling away was mentioned by the participants as an easy way to detach themselves from disliked content without it having much effect on them. While all of these negative engagement behaviors were argued to be part of hating in this research, the participants mainly perceived public destructive engagement behavior as part of online hating. However, even though all of the participants were selected based upon this type of

negative engagement behavior, none of them identified themselves as being a hater, not even when they have been called out as one. They justified themselves saying people online are so sensitive nowadays. These findings align with the findings of Lange (2007a) saying not all social media users perceive online hating as a problem in the same degree. Therefore based upon the findings above, haters on Instagram might have a different perception on Instagram and how to make use of it, resulting in negative engagement behavior on the platform.

The findings above contribute to better identifying negative engagement behavior and haters on social media. The findings are based upon a theoretical framework which has established interdisciplinary links between media studies and behavioral psychology, using literature on online engagement behavior and links it with communication sciences using literature on destructive and constructive feedback. These interdisciplinary links, therefore, enable us in more accurately identifying negative engagement behavior and haters on social media. Moreover, using sociology and media literature, the social interaction utility framework is applied to the findings which contributes to a better understanding of the motivations behind this type of negative engagement behavior on social media. Altogether these findings and interdisciplinary links result in a better understanding of negative engagement behavior with eWOM. Three utilities were found to be related to the defined negative engagement behavior and are discussed in-depth in the paragraph below.

Regarding the second sub-question: What utilities are obtained by haters of Dutch fitness influencers when engaging with branded content in a negative way? Three of the five utilities of the social interaction utility framework by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) were found to be related to negative engagement behavior on Instagram. First, the focus-related utility, which is based upon the assumption of users that they add value to the community with their contributions, was found to be related to negative engagement behavior on Instagram. More specific, negative engagement behavior that was related to the focus-related utility was found to come from the altruist motivation of concern for others, as identified by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004). Negative engagement behavior, therefore, based upon altruist motivations to improve the knowledge of others and prevent them from buying bad products, might also be perceived as some form of constructive feedback. Constructive feedback was defined in the theoretical framework as negative feedback delivered using a considerate form of communication, containing no threats and aiming to improve the

performance of others (Hardavella et al., 2017; Raver et al., 2012). Therefore, when the comment comes from altruist motivations and concern for others aiming to improve the knowledge as others, it can be perceived as constructive feedback. Moreover, as mentioned in the previous paragraph, none of the participants did perceive themselves as haters. Therefore, these findings indicate the need for a concept which is less associated with haters as online bullies and more related to the negative engagement behavior motivated by the reasons as mentioned above. The label of fitness influencer critic was proposed towards the participants who engaged in a negative way with content from the motivation of concern for others, and they felt more comfortable with this label. However, since the participants used an inconsiderate style of communication, they were still included in this research as haters and might still be perceived as haters by other users and content creators on Instagram.

The second utility which was found to be strongly related to negative engagement behavior was the approval utility. This utility comes from the feeling of satisfaction that is derived when others consume and approve personal contributions (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Self-enhancing motivations thus can drive Instagram haters to post controversial comments with the aim to find out whether others approve and agree with them. This is related to the findings of Hardaker (2013) who argued that in a specific context, mean critical commentary and deliberately trying to anger others can serve as a mean to connect with other users who like to be provocative. Posting negative comments on Instagram thus might be a means for Instagram users to connect with specific communities. This was found to be true in for one participant in particular who mentioned she also posted positive responses on other hateful comments on Instagram. This finding is related to the social benefit motivation, which drives social media users to participate and gain a sense of belonging with online communities. However, since the social benefits motivation was argued to be part of the focus-related utility by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) this finding also indicates that social interaction utilities, such as the focus-related and the approval utilities and their identified motivations can be interrelated when engaging in a negative way with content on Instagram. Haters on Instagram, therefore, can be driven by the selfenhancement motivation to post hateful comments with the aim to receive the approval utility of other Instagram users who agree with them. It was found that a common practice on Instagram is to tag friends in hateful public comments or sending hateful comments on content to friends in their direct messages in order to increase the chances of receiving the

approval utility.

The third social interaction utility, the homeostase utility was found to be the most related towards existing definitions of haters on Instagram. Within existing definitions, haters are perceived as social media users who can't be happy for the success of other social media users, which makes them intentionally want to expose flaws of successful users (Mackenzie, 2013). Existing definitions, therefore, already assume that haters act from jealous motivations and negative feelings. However, the findings above proved that the concept of haters goes further than this and negative engagement behavior can also be displayed from self-enhancing motivations and concern for others. Nonetheless, the homeostase utility is based upon the assumption that all individuals strive for balance in their lives. Venting negative feelings were identified as a motivation by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004) to receive the homeostase utility. Venting negative feelings, therefore, can help in reducing discontent that is associated with the negative feelings of the online users. This utility, therefore, is the most related towards existing definitions of haters on Instagram which assume that they act from jealous motivations. Jealousy was indeed mentioned by some of the participants as a reason for posting hateful comments, however other aspects of the content of fitness influencers also evoked negative feelings of which in particular the feeling of annoyance was mentioned very often. Aspects of the content of fitness influencers which are responsible for evoking negative feelings are discussed in detail in the following paragraph.

Lastly regarding the third sub-question: What aspects of branded content of Dutch fitness influencers evoke negative engagement behavior among haters? two main aspects emerged from the data: deceiving content and sexualized and objectified content. First, deceiving content was found to evoke annoyance and negative engagement behavior among the participants. The participants also referred to deceiving content as fake content, hereby meaning different types of deceiving content such as photoshopped content, overly posed content and content portraying plastic surgery. Fake content thus is in particular related towards fitness influencers portraying an ideal body, however faking it by using photoshop, weird poses or plastic surgery. Deceiving content thus is strongly related to the trustworthiness dimension of the source credibility model. Moreover, a lack of trustworthiness of fitness influencers on Instagram was found to be related to increased destructive engagement behavior. Haters on Instagram thus might be annoyed by deceiving

content portraying a fake ideal body and post negative comments in order to vent their negative feelings or expose fake content from their concern for others.

Another type of content which was found to be closely related to the trustworthiness dimension of the source credibility model was sponsored content. In particular, the perceived intrinsic motivations of influencers for posting sponsored content were found to be related to negative engagement behavior. When influencers continuously post sponsored content of all types of products, the participants perceived their intrinsic motivations as being based on making as much money as possible at the expense of their own honesty about products. Too much of sponsored content, therefore, was found to be related towards detaching engagement behavior on Instagram, by unfollowing the influencer or simply clicking or scrolling the content away. However, the participants mentioned they did not mind when influencers posted some sponsored content as long as it's not too much. Multiple participants mentioned influencers also had to make money and live from their job as an influencer by making sponsored content. Especially when influencers were honest about being sponsored and used disclosure language in their content, participants actually perceived them as more trustworthy. These findings contradict with the theory on disclosure language and the persuasion knowledge model, arguing that disclosure language increases advertisement recognition and in turn results in negative responses on the persuasion attempt (Boerman et al., 2012; Friestad & Wright, 1994; Rozendaal et al., 2011). However, according to the findings of this study, the overall credibility of social media influencers can benefit a lot from using disclosure language in combination with only posting sponsored content occasionally.

The second aspect of the content of fitness influencers that was found to evoke negative feelings was sexualized and objectified content. Multiple participants annoyed themselves on this type of content since it's not the reason for them to follow fitness influencers. Moreover, these negative feelings about the content were found to be related to the body image of the participants. Sexualized and objectified content were found to make the participants feel insecure or even unworthy about their own body. Haters on Instagram thus might act from insecurities, or body image issues and vent these negative feelings by engaging in a negative way with the content of fitness influencers. Even the participants who did not get into their own body image issues did annoy themselves on this type of content because it was not related to the reason for them to follow fitness

influencers. Sexualized and objectified content, therefore, seems to be an important aspect for evoking negative engagement behavior in the form of destructive comments or detaching behavior

#### **5.1.** Theoretical and social implications

Overall, the current research provides answers about the motivations of haters for negative engagement behavior on Instagram with the sponsored content of fitness influencers. The research was conducted through the scope of theories regarding negative engagement behavior, social interaction utility theory, source credibility theory, and the persuasion knowledge model. The scope, therefore, is based upon academic disciplines such as media studies, communication research, sociology, and psychology. Using media theory negative online engagement was found to be done in an either detaching or destructive way Dolan et al. (2016). By linking these findings to communication literature on destructive feedback as being negative feedback delivered in an inconsiderate style aiming at a poor performance (Baron, 1988; Raver et al., 2012), a more in-depth understanding of public destructive engagement behavior was reached. Therefore, these linkages contributed to identifying haters on Instagram, and their negative uses on the platform. Previous studies already identified anonymity as an important use of favoring negative engagement behavior on social media (Keen, 2007). However, this study established a relationship between an experienced level of anonymity of social media users and the number of comments on social media content, contributing to identifying haters and their negative uses of social media. However, the social interaction utility framework was used to gain an understanding of the motivations for the negative engagement behavior with eWOM, resulting in a more complete understanding of the concept of haters and the risks of influencer marketing. Therefore, the current research offers valuable insights into the social phenomenon of online haters and tightens the literature gap on the risks of influencer marketing.

However, as the study contributes to a more in-depth understanding of the risks of influencer marketing, it can also benefit social media influencers who engage in this practice on Instagram. The findings of this research can contribute to their understanding of haters and motivations for negative engagement behavior with their branded content. Awareness on the motivations for negative engagement behavior can give them guidance in preventing this type of engagement behavior with their content to some extent. Based upon the

theoretical framework on the source credibility model and the findings of the current research, social media influencers can increase their overall credibility by using clear and honest disclosure language and only collaborate with products they actually use or perceive as healthy and beneficial for their users. While previous literature argued that disclosure language on Instagram is positively related to advertising recognition and in turn has a negative impact on consumer attitudes (Evans et al., 2017), the current research suggests that Instagram users actually appreciate disclosure language and it has a positive relation to the trustworthiness dimension. Using disclosure language, therefore, can contribute to decreasing the risks of influencer marketing and negative engagement behavior with sponsored content.

However, disclosure language is only effective when the amount of sponsored content is limited since too much of it was found to be related towards lower perceived trustworthiness of the influencers and detachment from their content. In addition, sexualized and objectified content of women should be limited since it's found to annoy their followers as it is not their main reason to follow fitness influencers. In addition, fitness influencers, in particular, should be aware of what portraying their ideal body does to the body image of their followers, since it could potentially harm the body image of their followers. Therefore, it's important for fitness influencers to be supportive, inclusive and most importantly real, since content that is perceived as fake using photoshop, weird poses or plastic surgery, are more likely to get destructive comments of haters.

#### 5.2. Limitations and future research

There are a few limitations within this research of which most of them are connected towards the sampling process of the participants and the interviewing methods. As mentioned in detail within the methods chapter, participants were found and approached by monitoring the Instagram accounts of five Dutch fitness influencers on hateful comments. However, a large number of haters who were approached did not respond back or were not willing to participate in this study face-to-face. Considering the sensitive topic of the study it might be that a non-response bias is present. Therefore, individuals who did not agree to participate in this study might differ from the individuals who did participate in this study. In order to address this issue, potential participants were approached in a non-threatening way without using the word hater when describing the research aim. Moreover, participants who

were interested were invited to do the interview face-to-face or using Skype in order to lower the threshold for the participants to participate. Besides, the potential participants were assured of anonymous participation. Taking these efforts into account the sample consisted of mainly young Dutch Instagram users, however, they differ in their type of hateful comment as well as their motivations to post them. Nonetheless, it is possible that due to a non-response bias a certain type of haters on Instagram is not included within this research. Further research, therefore, is necessary to support the arguments and findings of this research and make sure there are no missing parts on the information about haters on Instagram.

Even though face-to-face interviewing was preferred due to the advantages of building rapport easier and having the possibility to sit in a quiet room without distractions, multiple participants preferred to do the interview using Skype. Considering the sensitive topic and the difficulty to find participants, it was agreed upon using Skype. Even though the effort was taken to increase the quality of the interview, by asking the participants to sit in a quiet room and have a good internet connection, some incidents and distractions happened. In particular, the interview with participant 7 was hard to do due to several distractions during the interview as well as connection loss. The connection was broken twice, after which I could not reach the participant again, resulting in a loss of potential data about the third part of the research. Another interview which potentially suffered from distractions was the interview with participant 4. She agreed to do the interview face-to-face, however on the condition that it was in a public environment. Again, considering the sensitive topic and the wishes of the participants, it was agreed upon meeting in a relatively quiet lunchroom. However, several distractions and disruptions within the public environment happened, which could potentially have affected the data. However, since all of the data was comprehensible and the topics were discussed in detail, the interview was still perceived as valuable for this study.

Another potential bias which occurred in this research is the social desirability bias, defined as the tendency of respondents to give socially acceptable answers instead of correct answers (Fisher, 1993). Again given the sensitivity of the topic of hating and negative engagement behavior, social desirability bias might be the reason why none of the participants perceived themselves as a hater, even though their own destructive comments did confirm their own definitions of haters. Furthermore, due to the sensitivity of the topic,

it might be that participants were not willing to share certain information, despite the efforts of the interviewer to build rapport with the participants. Several participants, therefore, mentioned they did not remember certain negative comments they posted or they only posted the negative comment on which their inclusion in this study was based. Also, fitness influencers were chosen in order to frame the study around their sponsored content and ideal body portrayal, however, it may be hard to generalize the findings onto all the haters of different types of influencers on Instagram since they differ in content and behavior. However, this study serves as a starting point to study possible motivations for haters and their negative engagement behaviors, going further than solely jealous motivations.

Therefore, this current study serves as a starting point for plenty of opportunities for future research. First, as mentioned above the focus of this research was on fitness influencers on Instagram, however, haters exist on other types of social media as well such as YouTube and Facebook. Even though this research can serve as a starting point to address haters and their motivations, other types of influencers such as lifestyle or fashion influencers can also be the subject of hate and negative engagement behavior. Therefore, qualitative studies can further develop the motivations of haters for negative engagement by applying the social interaction utility framework onto other types of influencers on different social media channels, in order to make sure all the relevant utilities are included when developing a final framework for haters and their motivations for negative engagement behavior on social media. Moreover, as this is a qualitative study, the topic might benefit from quantitative research towards it in order to generalize the findings on haters and their motivations to engage with certain types of content in a negative way on social media. Moreover, qualitative research could potentially assess which types of content are most likely to evoke negative engagement behavior in a quantitative way, thereby contributing to the profession of influencer marketing.

Lastly, this study did not take nationality, educational level or age into account when researching haters on Instagram. Therefore, future research might compare negative engagement behavior on social media based upon age, nationality or educational level since the topic of risks of influencer marketing and negative engagement behavior through the scope of these demographics could be interesting towards academic literature and the profession of influencer marketing.

#### References

- Abidin, C., & Ots, M. (2016). Influencers Tell All? Unravelling Authenticity and Credibility in a Brand Scandal. In M. Edström, A. Kenyon, & E.-M. Svensson (Eds.), *Blurring the lines: Market-driven and democracy-driven freedom of expression* (pp. 153–161). Gothenburg: Nordicom.
- Amelina, D., & Zhu, Y. (2016). Investigating Effectiveness of Source Credibility Elements on Social Commerce Endorsement: The Case of Instagram in Indonesia. In *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)* (Vol. 232). https://doi.org/10.1109/TASSP.1987.1165054
- Balasubramanian, S., & Mahajan, V. (2001). The Economic Leverage of the Virtual Community The Economic Leverage of the Virtual Community. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, *5*(3), 103–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/10864415.2001.11044212
- Barnes, S. J. (2002). Wireless digital advertising: nature and implications. International Journal of Advertising, 21(3), 399–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2002.11104939
- Baron, R. A. (1988). Negative effects of destructive criticism: Impact on conflict, self-efficacy, and task performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *73*(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.73.2.199
- Barriball, L. K., & Alison, W. (1994). Collecting data using a semi-structured interview: a discussion paper. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *19*(19), 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1994.tb01088.x
- Bertrand, C., & Bourdeau, L. (2010). Research interviews by Skype: A new data collection method. In *9th European Conference on Research Methods in Business and Management* (pp. 70–79). Retrieved from http://www.pamela.biz/en/
- Biaudet, S. (2017). *Influencer marketing as a marketing tool.* (Master's thesis, Arcada University of Applied Sciences). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-0251-0\_12
- Bijen, Y. (2017). #AD: The effects of an influencer, comment and product combination on brand image. (Master's thesis, University of Twente). Retrieved from https://essay.utwente.nl/72265/1/Bijen\_MA\_BMS1.pdf
- Blair, E. (2015). A reflexive exploration of two qualitative data coding techniques. Journal of Methods and Measurement in the Social Sciences, 6(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.2458/v6i1.18772
- Boeije, H. (2002). A purposeful approach to the constant comparative method. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*, 391–409. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1023/A:1020909529486.pdf
- Boerman, S. C., van Reijmersdal, E. A., & Neijens, P. C. (2012). Sponsorship Disclosure: Effects of Duration on Persuasion Knowledge and Brand Responses. *Journal of Communication*, 62(6), 1047–1064. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-

- Bohjalian, E. (2017). The self-presentation of popular fitspiration experts on Instagram. *Elon Journal of Undergraduate Research in Communications*, *8*(1), 23–34. Retrieved from https://www.elon.edu/u/academics/communications/journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/153/2017/06/03\_Ellie\_Bohjalian.pdf
- Boon, L. (2017). Amsterdam in cijfers: 69 procent sport 1 keer per week. Retrieved February 21, 2019, from https://www.parool.nl/amsterdam/amsterdam-in-cijfers-69-procent-sport-1-keer-per-week~a4542416/
- Boyce, C., & Neal, P. (2006). Conducting In-Depth Interviews: A guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluation Input (Monitoring and Evaluation No. 2). Pathfinder International Tool Series. Retrieved from https://dmeforpeace.org/sites/default/files/Boyce\_In Depth Interviews.pdf
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In *APA handbook of research methods in psychology* (pp. 57–71). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/13620-004
- Britten, N. (1995). Qualitative interviews in medical research. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 311(6999), 251–253. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.311.6999.251
- Brock, W. A., & Durlauf, S. N. (2001). Discrete Choice with Social Interactions. *The Review of Economic Studies*, *68*(2), 235–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-937X.00168
- Brubaker, J. (2015). Why the Most Successful People Have the Most Haters. Retrieved February 20, 2019, from https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/254282
- Castro, T. [@tavicastro]. (2019, February 14). Rule 1 of Valentine's Day: nothing says I love you more than some high quality protein from @ruleoneproteins. [Instagram post]. Retrieved from: https://www.instagram.com/p/Bt29wgXHpbw/
- Chan, V. (2016). Deadlifts and Selfies: How Social Media Shaped the Modern Bodybuilder. Retrieved February 5, 2019, from https://www.vice.com/en\_ca/article/4w38qg/deadlifts-and-selfies-how-social-media-shaped-the-modern-bodybuilder
- Chapple, H. (2016). The dark side of being a social media influencer. Retrieved May 23, 2019, from https://www.affinio.com/blog/2016/12/08/the-dark-side-of-being-a-social-media-influencer/
- Cheek, J. (2004). At the Margins? Discourse Analysis and Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*(8), 1140–1150. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304266820
- Constine, J. (2018). Instagram hits 1 billion monthly users, up from 800M in September. Retrieved December 20, 2018, from

- https://techcrunch.com/2018/06/20/instagram-1-billion-users/
- Crouch, M., & McKenzie, H. (2006). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, *45*(4), 483–499. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018406069584
- Daugherty, T., & Hoffman, E. (2014). eWOM and the importance of capturing consumer attention within social media. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20(1–2), 82–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2013.797764
- De Veirman, M., Cauberghe, V., & Hudders, L. (2017). Marketing through Instagram influencers: The impact of number of followers and product divergence on brand attitude. *International Journal of Advertising*, *36*(5), 798–828. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2017.1348035
- Dolan, R. M., Conduit, J., Fahy, J., & Goodman, S. (2016). Social Media Engagement Behaviour: a Uses and Gratifications Perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *24*(3), 261–277. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2015.1095222
- Elmir, R., Schmied, V., Jackson, D., & Wilkes, L. (2011). Interviewing people about potentially sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*(1), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2011.10.19.1.12.c8766
- Ettel, G., Nathanson, I., Ettel, D., Wilson, C., & Meola, P. (2012). How Do Adolescents Access Health Information? And Do They Ask Their Physicians? *The Permanente Journal*, *16*(1), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.7812/TPP/11-125
- Evans, N. J., Phua, J., Lim, J., & Jun, H. (2017). Disclosing Instagram influencer advertising: The effects of disclosure language on advertising recognition, attitudes, and behavioral intent. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, *17*(2), 138–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/15252019.2017.1366885
- Fastenau, J. (2018). Under the Influence: The Power of Social Media Influencers. Retrieved May 23, 2019, from https://medium.com/crobox/under-the-influence-the-power-of-social-media-influencers-5192571083c3
- Feild, L., Pruchno, R. A., Bewley, J., Lemay, E. P., & Levinsky, N. G. (2006). Using probability vs. nonprobability sampling to identify hard-to-access participants for health-related research: costs and contrasts. *Journal of Aging and Health*, *18*(4), 565–583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264306291420
- Fisher, R. J. (1993). Social Desirability Bias and the Validity of Indirect Questioning. Journal of Consumer Research, 20(2), 303–315. https://doi.org/10.1086/209351
- Flick, U. (2011). Sampling, selecting and access. In C. Marshall & G. Rossman (Eds.), *Designing Qualitative Research* (6th ed., pp. 25–36). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781849208826
- Freberg, K., Graham, K., McGaughey, K., & Freberg, L. A. (2011). Who are the social media influencers? A study of public perceptions of personality. *Public Relations Review*, 37(1), 90–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2010.11.001
- Friestad, M., & Wright, P. (1994). The Persuasion Knowledge Model: How People

- Cope with Persuasion Attempts. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *21*(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1086/209380
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *13*(1), 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the SemiStructured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. New York: New York University Press. https://doi.org/9780814732946
- Glucksman, M. (2017). The Rise and Success of Social Media Influencer Marketing on Lifestyle Branding: A Case Study of Lucie Funk. *Elon Journal of Undergraduate Research in Communications*, 8(2), 77–87. Retrieved from http://www.cur.org/resources/students/undergraduate\_journals/
- Goodman-Delahunty, J., & Howes, L. (2016). Social persuasion to develop rapport in high-stakes interviews: qualitative analyses of Asian-Pacific practices. *Policing and Society*, *26*(3), 270–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2014.942848
- Guion, L. A., Diehl, D. C., & McDonald, D. (2006). Conducting an In-depth Interview. University of Florida IFAS Extension. Retrieved from http://greenmedicine.ie/school/images/Library/Conducting An In Depth Interview.pdf
- Gürkaynak, G., Kama, O., & Ergün, B. (2018). Navigating the uncharted risks of covert advertising in influencer marketing. *Business Law Review*, *39*(1), 17–19. Retrieved from https://www.kluwerlawonline.com/abstract.php?area=Journals&id=BULA201800 4
- Hamid, Y., & Mahmood, S. (2010). Understanding constructive feedback: a commitment between teachers and students for academic and professional development. *JPMA. The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 60(3), 224–227. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20225784
- Hardaker, C. (2013). "Uh. . . . not to be nitpicky,,,,,but...the past tense of drag is dragged, not drug.": An overview of trolling strategies. *Journal of Language Aggression and Conflict*, 1(1), 58–86. https://doi.org/10.1075/jlac.1.1.04har
- Hardavella, G., Aamli-Gaagnat, A., Saad, N., Rousalova, I., & Sreter, K. B. (2017). How to give and receive feedback effectively. *Breathe*, *13*(4), 327–333. https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.009917
- Hay-Gibson, N. V. (2010). Interviews via VoIP: Benefits and Disadvantages within a PhD study of SMEs. *Library and Information Research*, *33*(105), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.29173/lirg111
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Gwinner, K. P., Walsh, G., & Gremler, D. D. (2004). Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet? *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, *18*(1), 38–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/dir.10073

- Hillebrand, J. D., & Berg, B. L. (2006). Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences. *Teaching Sociology*, *28*(1), 87–90. https://doi.org/10.2307/1319429
- Holdaway, S. (2012). Theory and Method in Qualitative Research. In D. Burton (Ed.), Research Training for Social Scientists (pp. 156–166). London: Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857028051.d20
- Jaakonmäki, R., Müller, O., & Vom Brocke, J. (2017). The impact of content, context, and creator on user engagement in social media marketing. In *50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (pp. 1152–1160). https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2017.136
- Jargalsaikhan, T., & Korotina, A. (2016). *Attitudes towards Instagram microcelebrities and their influence on consumers' purchasing decisions*. (Master's thesis, Jönköping University). Retrieved from http://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:950526/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Jong, S., & Drummond, M. (2016). Exploring online fitness culture and young females. *Leisure Studies*, *35*(6), 758–770. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2016.1182202
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954–2965. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. *Business Horizons*, *53*(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.093
- Keen, A. (2007). The Cult of the Amateur: How Today's Internet is Killing our Culture and Assaulting our Economy. New York: Currency. Retrieved from www.TheCultoftheAmateur.com
- Khamis, S., Ang, L., & Welling, R. (2017). Self-branding, 'micro-celebrity' and the rise of Social Media Influencers. *Celebrity Studies*, 8(2), 191–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/19392397.2016.1218292
- Konstantopoulou, A., Rizomyliotis, I., Konstantoulaki, K., & Badahdah, R. (2019). Improving SMEs' competitiveness with the use of Instagram influencer advertising and eWOM. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, *27*(2), 308–321. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-04-2018-1406
- Kudeshia, C., & Kumar, A. (2015). Brand personality and purchase intention. *Management Research Review*, 40(3), 462–476. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2015-0161
- Lange, P. G. (2007a). Commenting on Comments: Investigating Responses to Antagonism on YouTube. In Society for Applied Anthropology Conference. Tampa, Florida. Retrieved from http://web3.cas.usf.edu/main/depts/ANT/cma/Lange-SfAA-Paper-2007.pdf,%0Aaccessed 16 July 2007.
- Lange, P. G. (2007b). Searching for the 'You' in 'YouTube': An analysis of online

- response ability. *Ethnographic Praxis in Industry Conference Proceedings*, 1, 36–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-8918.2007.tb00061.x
- Lange, P. G. (2014). Commenting on YouTube rants: Perceptions of inappropriateness or civic engagement? *Journal of Pragmatics*, 73, 53–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2014.07.004
- Mack, N., Woodsong, C., MacQueen, K. M., Guest, G., & Namey, E. (2005). Qualitative Research Methods: A Data Collector's Field Guide. Family Health International. North Carolina: Family Health International. https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2013.21
- Mackenzie, M. (2013). Urban Dictionary: hater. Retrieved January 26, 2019, from https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=hater
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2014). Doing a Thematic Analysis: A Practical, Step-by-Step Guide for Learning and Teaching Scholars. *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, *50*(5), 3135–3140. https://doi.org/10.1109/TIA.2014.2306979
- Mai, L.-W., & Conti, P. G. (2007). Dissolution of a Person-Brand Relationship: An Understanding of Brand-Detachment. *European Advances in Consumer Research*, 8, 421–430. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260403845\_Dissolution\_of\_a\_Person-Brand\_Relationship\_An\_Understanding\_of\_Brand-Detachment
- Manic, M. (2015). The Rise of native advertising. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov*, *8*(57), 53–58. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/290062102\_The\_Rise\_of\_Native\_Advertising
- Marginson, D. E. W. (2007). The Case Study, The Interview and The Issues: A Personal Reflection. In C. Humphrey & B. Lee (Eds.), *The Real Life Guide to Accounting Research* (1st ed., pp. 325–337). Oxford; U.K.: Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008043972-3/50021-9
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does Sample Size Matter in Qualitative Research?: A Review of Qualitative Interviews In IS Research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*(1), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Marshall, M. (1996). Sampling for qualitative research. *Family Practice*, *13*(6), 522–526. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/13.6.522.
- Mondal, M., Silva, L. A., & Benevenuto, F. (2017). A Measurement Study of Hate Speech in Social Media. In *Proceedings of the 28th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media* (Vol. 10, pp. 85–94). Prague. https://doi.org/10.1145/3078714.3078723
- Moravcsik, A. (2014). Transparency: The revolution in qualitative research. *PS Political Science and Politics*, *47*(1), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096513001789
- Noonan, M. (2018). Social Media Fitness Influencers: Innovators and Motivators. University of Iowa Honors Theses. Retrieved from

- http://ir.uiowa.edu/honors\_theses
- O'Connor, M. E. (2017). Ten Steps To A Social Media Audit Marie Ennis-O'Connor Medium. Retrieved January 26, 2019, from https://medium.com/@JBBC/how-to-conduct-a-social-media-audit-a104e67ac1a9
- O'Sullivan, P. B., & Flanagin, A. J. (2003). Reconceptualizing 'flaming' and other problematic messages. *New Media & Society*, *5*(1), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444803005001908
- Opdenakker, R. (2006). Advantages and disadvantages of four interview techniques in qualitative research. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung*, 7(4). Retrieved from www.tue.nl/taverne
- Paulus, T. M., & Lester, J. N. (2016). ATLAS.ti for conversation and discourse analysis studies. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *19*(4), 405–428. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1021949
- Payne, S. J., & Howes, A. (2013). Adaptive Interaction: A Utility Maximization Approach to Understanding Human Interaction with Technology. *Synthesis Lectures on Human-Centered Informatics*, *6*(1), 1–111. https://doi.org/10.2200/S00479ED1V01Y201302HCI016
- Petty, R. D. (2000). Marketing Without Consent: Consumer Choice and Costs, Privacy, and Public Policy. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *19*(1), 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1509/jppm.19.1.42.16940
- Prieler, M. (2019). Reporting Participant Characteristics in a Research Paper. Retrieved June 24, 2019, from https://www.enago.com/academy/reporting-participant-characteristics-in-a-research-paper/
- Prikker, S. [@sandraprikker]. (2019, February 1). *I'm so happy to announce that I'm now a @bodyandfitshopnl Athlete!!*. [Instagram post]. Retrieved from: https://www.instagram.com/p/BtV8s8zg0RK/
- Prizeology. (2018). *Under the influence: UK consumer attitudes to social media influencer marketing.* Retrieved from www.vitreousworld.com
- Rasczyk, K., & Stephens, M. (2015). *CrossFit Community, Information Community: Needs and Behaviors*. Retrieved from http://infocom.hyperlib.sjsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Rasczyk\_ResearchPaper.pdf
- Raver, J. L., Jensen, J. M., Lee, J., & O'Reilly, J. (2012). Destructive Criticism Revisited: Appraisals, Task Outcomes, and the Moderating Role of Competitiveness. *Applied Psychology*, *61*(2), 177–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2011.00462.x
- Rozendaal, E., Lapierre, M. A., van Reijmersdal, E. A., & Buijzen, M. (2011). Reconsidering Advertising Literacy as a Defense Against Advertising Effects. *Media Psychology*, *14*(4), 333–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2011.620540
- Saffer, H. (2005). *The Demand for Social Interaction*. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w11881

- Saffer, H. (2008). The demand for social interaction. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 37(3), 1047–1060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2006.12.066
- Samarasinghe, U. S. (2018). Social Media and Celebrity Endorsement: An analysis of Literature Review. *International Journal of Scientific and Engineering Research*, *9*(12), 125–150. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330277494\_Social\_Media\_and\_Celebrity\_Endorsement\_An\_analysis\_of\_Literature\_Review
- Schreuder, A.-M. (2017). The Authenticity of Fake Posts. Retrieved January 23, 2019, from http://pure-influencers.com/2017/09/28/the-authenticity-of-fake-posts/
- Shum, W., & Lee, C. (2013). (Im)politeness and disagreement in two Hong Kong Internet discussion forums. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *50*(1), 52–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PRAGMA.2013.01.010
- Shuqair, S., & Cragg, P. (2017). The Immediate Impact of Instagram Posts on Changing the Viewers'Perceptions Towards Travel Destinations. *Asia Pacific Journal of Advanced Business and Social Studies*, *3*(2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.25275/apjabssv3i2bus1
- Sia, C.-L., Tan, B. C. Y., & Wei, K.-K. (2002). Group Polarization and Computer-Mediated Communication: Effects of Communication Cues, Social Presence, and Anonymity. *Information Systems Research*, *13*(1), 70–90. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.13.1.70.92
- Spry, A., Pappu, R., & Cornwell, T. B. (2011). Celebrity endorsement, brand credibility and brand equity. *European Journal of Marketing*, *45*(6), 882–909. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090561111119958
- Statista. (2018). Instagram: active users 2018 | Statista. Retrieved December 20, 2018, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/253577/number-of-monthly-active-instagram-users/
- Sudha, M., & Sheena, K. (2017). Impact of Influencers in Consumer Decision Process: the Fashion Industry. *SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, 14–31. Retrieved from www.clickz.com/wp-content/influence-posting
- Taherdoost, H. (2018). Sampling Methods in Research Methodology; How to Choose a Sampling Technique for Research. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3205035
- Thorne, S. (2000). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 3(3), 68–70. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebn.3.3.68
- Van der Hoeven, L. [@linnebel]. (2019, Februari 19). *The happiest people I know are always evaluating and improving themselves.* [Instagram post]. Retrieved from: https://www.instagram.com/p/BuB4iGSgjbW/
- Van Rhee, A. (2017). De fitnessbranche in Nederland is onstuitbaar | De Ondernemer. Retrieved February 21, 2019, from https://www.deondernemer.nl/nieuwsbericht/171242/de-fitnessbranche-in-nederland-is-onstuitbaar

- Watson, C. (2018). Negativity Online + Why I Won't Be a Full Time "Influencer." Retrieved June 18, 2019, from https://www.therunnerbeans.com/2018/09/negativity-online-i-wont-full-time-influencer.html
- Wei, M.-L., Fischer, E., & Main, K. J. (2008). An Examination of the Effects of Activating Persuasion Knowledge on Consumer Response to Brands Engaging in Covert Marketing. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *27*(1), 34–44. https://doi.org/10.1509/jppm.27.1.34
- Whatman, P. (2017). Social Sentiment Online: Yes, Social Media is Becoming More Negative. Retrieved May 23, 2019, from https://mention.com/blog/social-media-mentions-analysis/
- Why The Fitness Industry Is Booming. (2018). Retrieved February 5, 2019, from https://www.f45invest.com/blog/why-the-fitness-industry-is-booming
- Wilson, D. S. (1992). On the relationship between evolutionary and psychological definitions of altruism and selfishness. *Biology and Philosophy*, 7(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00130164

Appendix

Appendix A: Interview guide

Welcome to this interview on critical perceptions of fitness influencers. I am doing this

research for my Master's Thesis, and the purpose of this research is to find out what the

motivations are for people to post critical comments on fitness influencers on Instagram. I

would like to tell you again that your participation is completely anonymous. Only the audio

will be recorded and be used to transcribe the interview in order to be able to analyze it.

Moreover, the transcription will only be used for this study. So thank you for participating

and to start off this interview would you state your age and your nationality?

Part 1: Negative online engagement behavior

I would first like to ask you on your Instagram use.

1. Why do you make use of Instagram?

- Do you have multiple accounts/ why?

- Do you refer to your own name in your Instagram account?

- If not, can you explain?

2. Why do you comment on content?

What type of content do you comment on most?

- Is this usually positive or critical?

When do you critically comment on content?

What is your last critical comment about?

- why did you post this comment?

3. Which fitness influencers do you follow on Instagram?

What do you comment on the content of fitness influencers?

Did you ever unfollow a fitness influencer and why did you do this?

83

#### (personal comment part)

- 4. So I found you through a comment on the profile of....
- What was your first thought when you saw this picture?
- Why did you post the comment?
- Do you think the influencer saw the comment?
- What do you think others think about your comment?
- Did you get any responses on your comment?
- How did these responses make you feel?
- 5. Have you ever been called a hater/why?
- What do you think is the difference between haters and critics?

#### Part 2: Lack of credibility and authenticity

One of the strengths of influencer marketing is opinions on brands and products are often perceived as authentic and true.

#### Show picture 1.

- 6. what do you think of this content?
- How would you engage with this content? Why?
- Do you think the influencer actually uses this product?
- Do you think that this influencer is dependent on the brand that is endorsed, thus paid, why do you think so?
- 7. If you had to comment on this, what would you write?
- What would be your main goal with this comment?
- What do you think others think about your comment?
- What do you think that the influencer thinks about your comment?
- How would you feel after posting this comment on this post?
- What do you think about the way these fitness influencers portray themselves in this picture?

#### Show picture 2.

8. what do you think of this content?

- How would you engage with this content? Why?
- Do you think this influencer actually uses this product?
- Do you think that this influencer is dependent on the brand that is endorsed, thus paid, why do you think so?
- 9. If you had to comment on this, what would you write?
- What would be your main goal with this comment?
- What do you think others think about your comment?
- What do you think that the influencer thinks about your comment?
- How would you feel after posting this comment on this post?

### Part 3: Disruptive social media experiences

Another strength of influencer marketing is that branded content often is woven between personal content. Branded content, therefore, is often perceived as regular content of the fitness influencer. However, EU regulations state that collaborations need to be disclosed clearly using, for example, the #sponsored.

- 10. How do you feel about branded content in your timeline?
- What would you comment on this type of content?
- Would you keep following the content creator?

#### **Show picture 3**

- 11. What do you think about the disclosure language of fitness influencers?
- Do you appreciate it?
- What do you think of the content of this post in general?
- How would you feel when you saw this post in your timeline?
- Would it feel like it disrupts you from your Instagram activities?
- What would you comment on this post?
- How would you feel after posting a comment on this post?
- 12. What do you think others think about your comment?

- Do you think your comment adds value to this post?
- What do you think about the way this fitness influencer portrays herself?
- 13. What do you think about the number of advertisements on Instagram?
- Do you ever engage with them?
- Would you post a negative comment on it?
- Does it feel like it disrupts you from your Instagram activities?
- 14. Do you have anything else that you want to share in relation to fitness influencers and posting critical comments?

Thank you for participating, again your participation is completely anonymous and the audio recording will only be used for this specific study.

### **Appendix B:** Interview guide attachments

Picture 1 (Castro, 2019)



Picture 2 (Van der Hoeven, 2019)



# Picture 3 (Prikker, 2019)



## **Appendix C:** Participant overview:

Participant	Demographics	Sample Method	Comment	Interview setting
1	Age: 27 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Male	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @joostye95, encountered through the personal Instagram feed of the researcher	Original in Dutch, translated to English: "Nice job photoshopping the fence is so warped"	Face to face, in a quiet room. Interview language in English.
2	Age:19 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Male Work: Fitness trainer	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @sandraprikker where she is selling Body en Fit creatine	Original in Dutch, translated to English: "You keep more water, which results in a difference in size"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant. Interview language in Dutch, transcription translated into

				English.
3	Age: 22 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Male Studies: Communication graduate	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @tavicastro where he explains how he shoots his own photos and the photos on @bodyengineers	"it's ridiculous to post a picture of 2 women almost naked to get your followers satisfied, it has nothing to do with your channel and so is the description of this picture."	Face-to-face, in a quiet room. Interview language in Dutch, transcription translated into English
4	Age: 27 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Female	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @linnebel showing herself with a friend.	"You really bring out the worst in each other"	Face-to-face, in a public space according to the wishes of the participant. The interview is mainly in English, some parts in Dutch are translated into English
5	Age: 29 Nationality: Aruban Gender: Male	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @tavicastro showing his Body Engineers work out clothes with 2 other guys	"You're just showing off"	Face-to-face, in a quiet room. The interview is mainly in English, some parts in Dutch are translated into English.
6	Age: 29 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Male Work: Nutrition expert	Snowball sampling trough participant 1	"dude this is just an exercise you that doesn't give you any effects at all"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant. Interview language in Dutch, transcription translated into

				English.
7	Age: 20 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Female	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @linnebel showing a Body Engineers workout suit	Original in Dutch translated to English: "I bought the outfit but it's not comfortable at all"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant. Interview language in Dutch, transcription translated to English.
8	Age: 25 Nationality: Half Dutch, half Filipino Gender: Male Work: influencer industry	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @tavicastro visiting poor countries and playing with malnourished kids.	"I'm disgusted to see how someone with so much influence on this world is so fake and makes people around him feel so small"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant.
9	Age: 17 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Male	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @joelbeukers standing with his two golden cars	"always bragging with your gold cars"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant.
10	Age: 29 Nationality: Dutch Gender: Female	Judgment sampling: Comment on a post of @gabyblaaser	Original in Dutch, translated to English: "Do you have ambitions for the red lights district or something"	Skype video call, according to the wishes of the participant.

# **Appendix D**: Code tree:

Selective codes	Axial codes	Selection of open codes
Perceptions on	Perceptions of common	- comments on Instagram,
Instagram use	practices on Instagram	- following disliked content
		- a number of comments.
		- multiple accounts.
	Perceptions of negative	- anonymity
	engagement behavior on	- destructive social media
	Instagram	engagement behavior
		- detaching social media
		engagement behavior.
	Perceptions of self as a hater	- perceptions on haters,
	on Instagram	- perceptions of self
		- perceptions of others on self
Utilities obtained for	The focus-related utility	- concern for others
negative engagement	The approval utility	- self-enhancing motivation,
behavior		- getting positive responses
		- tagging friends
	The homeostase utility	- venting negative feelings
		- annoyance
Aspects of content	sexualization and	- sexualized content
responsible for evoking	objectification	- body image
negative engagement	Deceiving content	- fake content,
behavior		- intrinsic motivations,
		- advertisement recognition
		- disclosure language.